

Production and Properties Development of Polyhydroxyalkanoates-Natural Rubber Blends

Mananya Martla

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Microbiology Prince of Songkla University 2019

Copyright of Prince of Songkla University



Production and Properties Development of Polyhydroxyalkanoates-Natural Rubber Blends

Mananya Martla

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Microbiology Prince of Songkla University 2019

Copyright of Prince of Songkla University

Thesis Title	Production and Polyhydroxyalk	Properties Development of anoates-Natural Rubber Blends		
Author	Miss Mananya I	Miss Mananya Martla		
Major Program	Microbiology			
Major Advisor		Examining Committee :		
(Asst. Prof. Dr. Kamo	ontam Umsakul)	Chairperson (Prof. Dr. Duangporn Kantachote)		
Co-advisor		Committee (Asst. Prof. Dr. Kamontam Umsakul)		
(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Var	aporn Tanrattanakul)	Committee (Dr. Pilanee Vaithanomsat)		
		Committee		

(Dr. Wankuson Chanasit)

The Graduate School, Prince of Songkla University, has approved this thesis as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of philosophy Degree in Microbiology

> (Prof. Dr.Damrongsak Faroongsarng) Dean of Graduate School

This is to certify that the work here submitted is the result of the candidate's own investigations. Due acknowledgement has been made of any assistance received.

...... Signature (Asst. Prof. Dr. Kamontam Umsakul) Major Advisor

.....Signature (Miss Mananya Martla)

Candidate

I hereby certify that this work has not been accepted in substance for any degree, and is not being currently submitted in candidature for any degree.

.....Signature (Miss Mananya Martla) Candidate



ABSTRACT

Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are microbial thermoplastic that are completely degraded in various natural environments. The production of PHAs is limited by the expensive carbon source and recovery processes. PHAs-producing bacteria that can use biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as a carbon source were studied. Pseudomonas mendocina PSU produced 79.7 wt% poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB) when cultured in mineral salts medium (MSM) containing 2% (v/v) BLW for 72 h. The weight average molecular weight (M_w) and number average molecular weight (M_n) were 8.39 x10⁴ and 4.60 x 10⁴, respectively. PHAs-producing bacteria SB01 and SB02 were isolated from Sirindhorn peat swamp forest in Thailand. Strain SB01 cultured in MSM containing BLW produced 91.98 wt% PHB at 78 h. When palm oil was used as a carbon source, this strain produced 87.50 wt% PHB at 84 h. Strain SB02 cultured in MSM containing 2% BLW produced 97.95 wt% PHB at 78 h. When palm oil was used as a carbon source, this strain produced 96.60 wt% PHB at 84 h. This study shows the potential use of a cheap substrate to produce a high amount of PHAs. Moreover, these two strains produced high molecular weight PHB which is more flexible than PHB from P. mendocina PSU. M_w and M_n of PHB from SB01 were 2.3 x 10^5 and 1.3 x 10^5 when BLW was used as a carbon source. M_w and M_n of of PHB from SB01 were 2.8 x 10^5 and 2.1 x 10^5 when palm oil was used as a carbon source.

 M_w and M_n of PHB from SB02 were 2.5 x 10⁵ and 2.0 x 10⁵ when BLW was used as a carbon source. M_w and M_n of PHB from SB02 were 7.9 x 10⁵ and 4.3 x 10⁵ when palm oil was used as a carbon source. PHAs-producing bacteria SB01 and SB02 were identified as Burkholderia seminalis and Burkholderia contaminans, respectively according to the 16s rRNA sequence analysis. Even though these two strains are very promising, but Burkholderia spp. have also emerged as important human opportunistic pathogens and the risks associated with their uses remain unclear. Therefore, P. mendocina PSU was selected for further study. For the development of the biomaterials, PHB properties of P. mendocina PSU were improved by both copolymer production of PHBV and blending methods. Poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV) copolymer was produced. Effects of sodium propionate, which is the precursor for PHBV production, and nitrogen sources were investigated. P. mendocina PSU produced 38.6 wt% PHBV with 13 hydroxyvalerate (HV) mol% at 72 h when 0.3% sodium propionate and 0.5 g/L ammonium sulphate were added. The properties of PHBV were better than PHB because of high molecular weight and low melting temperature. PHA recovery processes by biological method using mealworms and chloroform extraction were investigated. M_w and M_n from biological method were higher than those of the chloroform extraction. Melting temperature (T_m) and purity of PHAs were comparable. This study confirmed the ability of mealworms to extract PHAs from various kinds of bacterial cells. In the attempt to improve the properties of PHB, PHB was then blended with modified epoxidized natural rubber 25 (ENR25) by solution blending, melt blending by internal mixture and melt blending by twin screw extrusion. Unfortunately, PHB and modified ENR25 could not mix well together.

Biodegradation of all polymers from this study were determined by soil burial test and treating with the rubber degrading bacteria consortium. PHB and PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU and rubber glove showed higher degradation rate than other materials when buried in the soil. The rubber degrading bacteria consortium degraded PHB-ENR25 blend films better than PHB and PHBV, NR and ENR25. This study has successfully established a low-cost process to synthesize biodegradable polymer. However, the polymer properties are needed to be improved further.

Key words: polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA); poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV); *Pseudomonas* sp.; *Burkholderia* sp.; biodiesel liquid waste (BLW).

ชื่อวิทยานิพนธ์ การผลิตและพัฒนาสมบัติของพอลิเมอร์ผสมระหว่างพอลีไฮครอกซีอัลคาโนเอต และยางธรรมชาติ

ผู้เขียน นางสาว มณัลยา หมาดหล้า

สาขาวิชา จุลชีววิทยา

ปีการศึกษา 2561

บทคัดย่อ

์ โพลีไฮดรอกซีอัลคาโนเอต (PHAs) เป็นพลาสติกที่ทนต่อความร้อนได้ดีและสามารถย่อย สถายได้อย่างสมบูรณ์ในสิ่งแวคล้อม ในระดับอุตสาหกรรมการผลิตPHAsยังมีข้อจำกัคเนื่องจาก แหล่งการ์บอนที่ใช้ในการผลิตมีรากาแพงและกระบวนการสกัด PHAs มีต้นทุนที่สูง งานวิจัยนี้เป็น การศึกษาแบคทีเรียที่สามารถสังเคราะห์ PHAs ได้โดยใช้ของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตไบโอดีเซลเป็น แหล่งการ์บอน Pseudomonas mendocina PSU สามารถผลิตโพลีไฮดรอกซีบิวทีเรตหรือ PHB ได้ 79.7 wt% เมื่อเลี้ยงในอาหาร mineral salts medium (MSM) ที่มีของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตไบโอคีเซล 2% เป็นแหล่งคาร์บอนโดยใช้เวลาในการเลี้ยง 72 ชั่วโมง น้ำหนักโมเลกุลเฉลี่ยโดยน้ำหนัก (M_{\odot}) และน้ำหนักโมเลกุลเฉลี่ยโดยจำนวน (M_{μ}) ของ PHB เท่ากับ 8.39 x 10^4 และ 4.60 x 10^4 ใน การศึกษานี้ได้แยกเชื้อสายพันธุ์ SB01 และ SB02 จากดินบริเวณป่าพรุโต๊ะแดงประเทศไทย ที่ ้สามารถใช้ของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตใบโอดีเซลเป็นแหล่งการ์บอนและผลิต ที่มีน้ำหนัก PHB ์ โมเลกุลสูง การศึกษาผลของแหล่งคาร์บอนต่อการผลิต PHAs โดยการเลี้ยงเชื้อในอาหาร MSM ที่มี แหล่งการ์บอนเป็นของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตใบโอดีเซลหรือน้ำมันปาล์มพบว่าเชื้อ SB01 ที่ถูกเลี้ยง ในอาหาร MSM ที่มีของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตไบโอคีเซลเป็นแหล่งการ์บอนสามารถผลิต PHB ได้ 91.98 wt% ที่เวลา 78 ชั่วโมง และเมื่อเลี้ยงในในอาหาร MSM ที่มีน้ำมันปาล์มเป็นแหล่งคาร์บอน

เชื้อสามารถผลิต PHB ได้ 87.50 wt% ที่เวลา 84 ชั่วโมง เชื้อ SB02 ที่ถูกเลี้ยงในอาหาร MSM ที่มี ของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตจากใบโอคีเซลเป็นแหล่งคาร์บอนสามารถผลิต PHB ได้ 97.95 wt% ที่ เวลา 78 ชั่วโมง และเมื่อเลี้ยงในในอาหาร MSM ที่มีน้ำมันปาล์มเป็นแหล่งการ์บอนเชื้อสามารถ ผลิต PHB ได้ 96.60 wt% ที่เวลา 84 ชั่วโมง M_w และ M_n ของ PHB จากเชื้อ SB01 เท่ากับ 2.3 x 10^5 และ $1.3 \ge 10^5$ เมื่อใช้ของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตจากไบโอคีเซลเป็นแหล่งการ์บอน. M_w และ M_n ของ PHB จากเชื้อ SB01 เท่ากับ 2.8 x 10^5 และ 2.1 x 10^5 เมื่อใช้น้ำมันปาล์มเป็นแหล่งคาร์บอน M_w และ M_n ของ PHB จากเชื้อ SB02 เท่ากับ 2.5 x 10^5 และ 2.0 x 10^5 เมื่อใช้ของเหลือใช้จากการ ผลิตจากไบโอดีเซลเป็นแหล่งการ์บอน. M_w และ M_n ของ PHB จากเชื้อ SB02 เท่ากับ 7.9 x 10^5 และ 4.3 x 10⁵ เมื่อใช้น้ำมันปาล์มเป็นแหล่งคาร์บอน งานวิจัยนี้แสดงถึงศักยภาพของการใช้ของ ้เหลือใช้จากการผลิตจากกระบวนการผลิตไบโอคีเซลซึ่งเป็นวัตถดิบที่มีรากาถกมาผลิต PHAs ใน ปริมาณที่สูงได้ นอกจากนี้เชื้อทั้งสองสายพันธุ์ที่แยกได้ยังสามารถผลิต PHB ที่มีน้ำหนักโมเลกุลสูง และมีความยืดหยุ่นมากกว่า PHB จากเชื้อ P. mendocina PSU อีกด้วย จากการศึกษาลำคับเบสของ ยืน 16s rRNA พบว่าเชื้อ SB01 และ SB02 เป็นเชื้อ Burkholderia seminalis และเชื้อ Burkholderia contaminans ดังนั้นถึงแม้ว่าเชื้อสองชนิดนี้มีประสิทธิภาพสูงในการสร้าง PHB แต่เชื้อในกลุ่ม Burkholderia spp. จัดเป็นเชื้อฉวยโอกาสก่อโรคที่สำคัญในมนุษย์และอาจมีความเสี่ยงที่เกิดจากการ ้นำเชื้อกลุ่มนี้มาใช้งาน ดังนั้นในการศึกษานี้จึงเลือกใช้ P. mendocina PSU ในการผลิต PHAs เพื่อ พัฒนาคุณสมบัติของวัสดุทางชีวภาพ โดยการผลิตโคพอลิเมอร์และการทำพอลิเมอร์ผสม โดยการ ้เลี้ยง P. mendocina PSU ที่มีการเติมโซเดียม-โพรพิโอเนต พบว่าสามารถผลิตโพลี(3-ไฮดรอกซีบิว ทีเรต-โค-3-ไฮครอกซีวาเถอเรต) หรือ PHBV ได้ 38.6 wt% โดยโคพอลิเมอร์ที่ได้มีโมโนเมอร์ ของไฮครอกซีวาเลอเรตอยู่ 13 mol% เมื่อทำการเลี้ยงเชื้อเป็นเวลา 72 ชั่วโมง ในอาหารเลี้ยงเชื้อที่มี

0.3% โซเดียมโพรพิโอเนตและ 0.5 g/L แอมโมเนียมในเตรตเป็นองค์ประกอบ คุณสมบัติของ PHBV ที่ได้ดีกว่า PHB เนื่องจากเป็นวัสดที่มีน้ำหนักโมเลกลสงและจดหลอมเหลวที่ต่ำกว่า จาก การเปรียบเทียบกระบวนการสกัด PHAs โดยการสกัดทางชีวภาพที่ใช้หนอนนกและการสกัดโดย ใช้คลอโรฟอร์มในทคลองพบว่า M และ M ของ PHAs ที่ทำการสกัคโดยวิธีทางชีวภาพมีค่าสูง กว่าการสกัดโดยใช้คลอโรฟอร์ม พอลิเมอร์ที่ได้มีความบริสุทธิ์และมีจุดหลอมเหลวที่ใกล้เคียงกัน การทดลองนี้ยืนยันประสิทธิภาพของการใช้หนอนนกในการสกัด PHAs จากเซลล์แบคทีเรียได้ การศึกษานี้ยังได้ทำการปรับปรุงคุณสมบัติของ PHB โดยการผลิตพอลิเมอร์ผสม หลายชนิด ระหว่างPHBและยางอิพอกซิไดซ์ 25 (ENR25) ที่ผ่านการคัคแปลงแล้ว โคยใช้การผสมโคยใช้ตัวทำ ้ละลาย การผสมโดยใช้ความร้อน ของเครื่องผสมแบบระบบปิด และการผสมโดยใช้ความร้อน ของ ้เครื่องอัดรีดสกรูคู่ แต่พบว่า PHB กับยาง ENR25 ที่ผ่านการคัดแปลงแล้วไม่สามารถผสมเป็นเนื้อ ้เดียวกันได้สมบรณ์ เมื่อทำการทดสอบการย่อยสลายพอลิเมอร์ที่ได้จากการทดลองทกชนิดโดยการ ้ฝั่งดินและการใช้กลุ่มเชื้อย่อยสลายยาง พบว่า PHB และ PHBV จากเชื้อ P. mendocina PSU และถุง ้มือขางมีอัตราการข่อขสลายที่สูงเมื่อทำการฝังดิน แต่เมื่อทำการข่อขสลายโดยใช้กลุ่มเชื้อข่อขสลาย ้ยางพบว่าพอลิเมอร์ผสมระหว่าง PHB และยาง ENR25 มีอัตราการย่อยสลายที่สูงกว่า PHB PHBV ยางธรรมชาติ และยาง ENR25 งานวิจัยนี้สามารถผลิตพอลิเมอร์ย่อยสลายได้ทางชีวภาพที่มีต้นทุน ในการผลิตต่ำ แต่อย่างไรก็ตามยังมีความจำเป็นที่ต้องศึกษาและปรับปรุงคุณสมบัติของพอลิเมอร์ ให้ดียิ่งขึ้น

คำสำคัญ: โพลีไฮครอกซีอัลคาโนเอต (PHA) โพลี(3-ไฮครอกซีบิวทิเรต-โค-3-ไฮครอกซีวาเลอเรต) (PHBV) *Pseudomonas* sp. *Burkholderia* sp. ของเหลือใช้จากการผลิตไบโอคีเซล

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank to my major advisor, Asst. Prof. Dr. Kamontam Umsakul, for her suggestions, guidance, and useful critiques of this research work.

I would like to thank Assoc. Prof. Dr. Varaporn Tanrattanakul, Department of Materials Science and Technology, Prince of Songkla University, my co-advisors, for her suggestion and providing me the equipment to produce polymer blend.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Sudesh Kumar, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia, for his suggestion, guidance and providing me the equipment to analyze PHB molecular weight.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Duangporn Kantachote, Dr. Wankuson Chanasit, and Dr. Pilanee Vaithanomsat the thesis committee, for all valuable comments and guidance.

I would like to thank Asst. Prof. Dr. Ekwipoo Kalkornsurapranee, Department of Materials Science and Technology, Prince of Songkla University for the supply of natural rubber, ENR25 and ENR50 throughout my study.

I would like to thank my friends at ST 608 Microbiology Laboratory, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand for their kindness and help.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their support.

Mananya Martla

CONTENTS

Abstract (in English)	v
Abstract (in Thai)	viii
Acknowledgements	xi
List of Tables	xvii
List of Figures	xix
List of Abbreviations and Symbols	xxiii
List of Papers and Proceedings	xxiv
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	
Rationale and Background	1
Biopolymers	3
Biopolymers obtained from microbial sources	4
Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs)	9
Substrates for bacterial PHA production	11
PHA structure	13
PHA biosynthesis	15
PHA copolymers	16
PHAs applications	19

xii

	Page
Chemical modifications of PHAs	22
Polymer blends	23
PHA blending	24
Natural rubber	25
Epoxidized natural rubber (ENR)	26
Polyhydroxyalkanoates degradation	27
OBJECTIVES	29
CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
PHAs production using Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as the sole carbon source	31
PHAs production by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	31
Determination of monomer composition and molecular weight	31
of PHA from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	
Isolation of PHA-accumulating bacteria and production	32
of PHA using BLW and palm oil as the sole carbon source	
Screening of PHA-accumulating bacteria by the enrichment culture technique	32
Growth of newly isolated bacterial strains in the pre-culture medium	33
PHA accumulation of newly isolated strains in MSM medium	33

	Page
Identification of the bacterial strains	34
PHBV production	34
Effect of sodium propionate concentrations on PHBV production	34
Effect of nitrogen content on PHBV production	35
PHA recovery	35
Chemical recovery of PHAs by chloroform extraction	35
Biological recovery of PHAs by mealworms	36
Preparation of PHA-rubber blends	37
Blending by solution blending	37
Blending by internal mixture	37
Blending by twin screw extrusion	38
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films	39
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the soil burial test	39
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films	40
by rubber degrading bacteria consortium	
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	

PHAs production using Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as the sole carbon source 42 Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) and PHAs production using BLW 42 PHAs production by *P. mendocina* PSU 42

xiv

	Page
Monomer composition of PHA from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	44
Isolation of PHA-accumulating bacteria and production of PHA using	48
BLW and palm oil as the sole carbon source	
Screening of PHA-accumulating bacteria by the enrichment culture technique	48
Growth of newly isolated SB01 and SB02 strains in the pre-culture medium	49
PHA accumulation of SB01 and SB02 strains in MSM medium	51
Identification of the SB01 and SB02 strains	56
PHBV production by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	57
Effect of sodium propionate concentrations on PHBV production	61
by Pseudomonas sp. PSU	
Effect of nitrogen content on PHBV production by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	65
PHA recovery	66
PHA recovery by chloroform extraction	66
Biological recovery of PHAs by mealworms	67
Preparation of PHA–rubber blends	73
Blending by solution blending	73
Blending by melt mixing (internal mixture)	75
Blending by melt mixing (twin screw extrusion)	76

	Page
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films	78
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the soil burial test	78
Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by	81
the rubber degrading bacteria consortium	
CHAPTER 4 CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	87
APPENDIX	104
APPENDIX A Media and Reagents	104
APPENDIX B Report of microbial identification	105
by 16s rRNA sequence analysis	
APPENDIX C Formula for PHA production and Biodegradation	112
VITAE	113

xvi

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Classes of bacterial polymers and their characteristics	5
2	Overview of bacterial strains used low cost carbon sources to produce	13
	PHAs	
3	Classical PHA synthases in different classes depending on	16
	the subunit composition and substrate specificities	
4	PHAs used in biomedical applications	21
5	Biosynthesis of PHB by P. mendocina PSU grown in MSM	44
	with 2% BLW	
6	Biosynthesis of PHB by SB01 and SB02 grown in MSM medium	54
	with BLW or palm oil, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h	
7	Biosynthesis of PHBV of P. mendocina PSU grown in MSM	59
	with 2% BLW and 0.3% sodium propionate	
8	Chemical shift signals (in ppm) from ¹³ C NMR spectra of	61
	PHBV copolymer	
9	Biosynthesis of PHBV by P. mendocina PSU grown in MSM	63
	medium with BLW and various sodium propionate	
	concentrations, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h	
10	Biosynthesis of PHBV by P. mendocina PSU grown	64
	in MSM media supplemented with BLW and 0.3% sodium	
	propionate with different nitrogen sources, incubated	
	at 35 °C for 96 h	

xvii

LIST OF TABLES (continued)

Table		Page
11	Properties of PHAs from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU that extracted	70
	by biological recovery and chloroform extraction methods	
12	Properties of PHAs obtained from biological recovery and	72
	chloroform extraction methods	
13	Weight loss of PHAs and the blend films from the soil burial test	80
14	Weight loss of PHAs and the blend films after degrading by	83
	the rubber degrading bacterial consortium	

xviii

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	e	Page
1	The structure of polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) granules in bacteria	10
2	Metabolic pathways of PHAs synthesis using different carbon sources	12
3	General structure of polyhydroxyalkanoates	14
4	Common three-step biochemical pathway to PHB production	15
5	Biosynthesis of PHAs consisting of 3HP, 3HA, 3HB, 3HV	19
	and 4HB containing PHA	
6	(a) Modification of NR to ENR.	27
	(b) The general structure of ENR-50	
7	The research outline of this study	30
8	Diagram of solution blending method	37
9	Schematic of internal mixture	38
10	Schematic of twin screw extrusion	39
11	Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films	40
	by the soil burial test	
12	Biosynthesis of PHB in <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU when grown in MSM	44
	with 2% BLW	
13	GC analysis of the PHA produced by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (A)	46
	standard PHB (B) PHB produced by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (pA: peak area)	
14	¹ H NMR spectrum in CDCl ₃ of PHB from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU	47
15	Biosynthesis of PHAs from Glycerol	48

xix

LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

Figure		Page
16	Micrographs of PHB producing bacteria: (A) Gram stain of SB01	49
	(B) Sudan black B stain of SB01 (C) Gram stain of SB02	
	(D) Sudan black B stain of SB02	
17	Growth profiles of A) strain SB01 and B) strain SB02	50
	when cultivated in NR medium at 35 $^\circ$ C and 150 rpm for 76 h	
18	GC analysis of the PHA produced by SB01 and SB02 (A) standard PHB	51
	(B) PHB produced by SB01 (C) PHB produced by SB02	
	(pA: peak area)	
19	A phylogenetic tree of SB01 and SB02 related to other species of	57
	Burkholderia based on aligned sequences of the 16s rRNA	
	gene. Caballeronia concitans LMG 29315 was used as	
	an out-group	
20	GC analysis of the PHA produced by <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (A)	58
	standard PHBV (B) PHBV produced by P. mendocina PSU	
	(pA: peak area)	
21	¹³ C NMR spectra in CDCl ₃ of PHBV extracted by chloroform	60
	extraction	
22	Growth of <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU when cultivated in MSM with	62
	2% biodiesel liquid waste and various concentrations of	
	sodium propionate, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h	
23	PHB recovery from P. mendocina PSU cells using chloroform	67
	extraction	

LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

Figur	e	Page
24	Biological recovery process of PHAs from P. mendocina PSU	69
	cells using mealworms. (A) Mealworms feeding on dried	
	P. mendocina PSU cells (B) Mealworms and fecal pellets	
	after almost complete feeding on cells (C) Fecal pellets	
	before washing and further purification (D) Fecal	
	pellets containing PHB after being purified by 1% SDS	
25	PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30)	74
	by solution blending (chloroform)	
26	PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30)	75
	by internal mixture	
27	PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30)	76
	by twin screw extrusion	
28	Polymer blended film of PHB and modified ENR25	77
	by twin screw extrusion	
29	Physical changes on the PHB from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (a),	80
	PHBV from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (b), PHB from <i>B. contaminans</i>	
	SB02 (c), NR (d), ENR25 (e), rubber glove (f), PHB-ENR25	
	blend films from solvent blending (g) and PHB-ENR25	
	blend films from melt blending (h) after buried in the soil for	
	0 week (A), 2 weeks (B) and 4 weeks (C)	

xxi

LIST OF FIGURES (continued)

Figure		Page
30	Physical changes of PHB from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (a), PHBV	82
	from <i>P. mendocina</i> PSU (b), PHB from <i>B. contaminans</i> SB02	
	(c), NR (d), ENR25 (e), rubber glove (f), PHB-ENR25	
	blend films from solvent blending (g) and PHB-ENR25	
	blend films from melt blending (h) after degraded	
	by rubber degrading bacteria for 0 week (A), 2 weeks (B)	
	and 4 weeks (C)	

xxii

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

- BLW = Biodiesel liquid waste
- C/N = Ratio of carbon to nitrogen
- DCW = Dry cell weight
- % DCW = % Dry cell weight
- GC = Gas chromatography
- PHA = Polyhydroxyalkanoates
- PHB = Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)
- PHBV = Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyvalerate)
- HV = Hydroxyvalerate
- ¹H-NMR = Proton magnetic resonance
- 13 C-NMR = Carbon magnetic resonance
- MSM = Mineral salt medium
- SCL-PHA = Short chain length Polyhydroxyalkanoate
- MCL-PHA = Medium chain length Polyhydroxyalkanoate
- MW = Molecular weight
- Mn = The number-average molecular weight
- Mw = The weight-average molecular weight
- mol% = Percentages of mole or molar fraction
- $T_c = Crystallization temperature$
- $T_g = Glass$ transition temperature
- $T_m = Melting temperature$
- 3HB = 3-Hydroxybutyrate
- 3HD = 3-Hydroxydecanoate
- 3HHx = 3-Hydroxyhexanoate
- 3HO = 3-Hydroxyoctanoate
- % (v/v) = % volume by volume
- % wt = % weight
- % (w/w) = % weight by weight
- n.d. = Data was not detected

LIST OF PAPERS AND PROCEEDINGS

- Martla, M., Sudesh, K. and Umsakul, K. 2018. Production and recovery of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyvalerate) from biodiesel liquid waste (BLW). Journal of Basic Microbiology. 58: 977-986.
- Martla, M. and Umsakul, K. 2018. Isolation and characterization of a polyhydroxyalkanoates producing bacterium using biodiesel liquid waste as a carbon source. In: The 2nd International Conference on Environment, Livelihood, and Services; ICELS 2018 (19th – 22th November 2018, C asean 10 floor, CW Tower Bangkok, Thailand)(Proceeding)

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Rational and Background

According to human population and economic activity has grown rapidly, so materials consumption is increased. The over use of conventional plastics such as polypropylene and polyethylene is greatly concerned. These plastics are produced from hydrocarbons sources and take several years to decompose. Toxic compounds are produced during degradation. Plastics accumulate in landfills and polluting the land and natural waters (Cornell, 2007; Rehm, 2010). Alternative materials are required for future economical and ecologically safe biopolymers of natural origin. Biopolymers can be produced from renewable resources obtained from agricultural or biotechnological processes. Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are biodegradable and have properties similar to petrochemical-based plastics (Steinbüchel, 2001). They are accumulated in bacterial cells when carbon source is excess and at least one other essential nutrient for growth is depleted. PHAs are water insoluble polyesters accumulated in cell cytoplasm and serve as storage compounds for carbon and energy sources (Asrar and Gruys, 2002). A wide variety of bacteria produce PHAs using different pathways from coenzyme A thioesters of hydroxyalkanoic acids obtained during carbohydrate metabolism or fatty acid metabolism. During the last 20 years, approximately 150 different hydroxyalkanoic acids have been isolated from various

bacteria. PHAs can be used for various applications such as natural fiber composites, binder in paints tissue engineering and drug delivery (Zinn *et al.*, 2001; Thakor *et al.*, 2006). They are completely degraded by soil and aquatic microorganisms that have specific enzymes called PHA depolymerases. The complete degradation process produced nontoxic products to the environment as carbon dioxide and water under aerobic conditions or methane, carbon dioxide and water under anaerobic conditions (Jendrossek and Handrick, 2002; Kim and Rhee, 2003).

At present, applications of PHAs are limited by their high cost and some poor properties. They exhibit a narrow processing window because they are sensitive to temperature and shear stress. PHAs chains are cleaved under high shear stress and their molecular weight is rapidly reduced. Additives, blends, and composites are the most apparent ways to enhance toughness and flexibility of materials. Poly(3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV) co-polymer can be produced by adding the valerate content. Impact strength increases with increasing hydroxyvalerate (HV) content, while melting temperature (T_m), glass transition temperature (T_g) , crystallinity, water permeability and tensile strength decreases in the copolymers (Kotnis et al., 1995). Polymer blending is used to improve mechanical, biodegradation, and morphological properties to broaden PHAs applications. Polylactic acid (PLA), poly(butylene adipate-*co*-terephthalate) (PBAT), polycaprolactone (PCL) and starch have been blended with PHAs for this purpose (Reddy et al., 2013). Natural rubbers are elastomeric in nature and biodegradable polymer. Several species of bacteria and fungi can degrade natural rubber (Rose and Steinbüchel, 2005). Use of natural rubbers for blending with PHAs may help in decreasing its melting temperature (T_m) and reducing the overall crystallinity to provide ductility and toughness required for many industrial applications.

1. Biopolymers

Biopolymers are polymers that are synthesized and catabolized by various organisms. They have attracted considerable attention as green materials. Biopolymers do not cause toxic effects in the host and have certain advantages over petroleum-derived plastic (Suriyamongkol *et al.*, 2007). Biopolymers show highly diverse characteristics with respect to their shape and their properties such as diverse strength, elasticity, toughness or robustness. They can replace some synthetic plastics in many applications such as photonics, drug delivery, electronic device, textiles, sutures, tissue scaffolds and microfluidic device (Gronau *et al.*, 2012).

Biopolymers can be classified into three categories depending on the sources

1. Polymers from biomass such as the agro-polymers.

1.1 Polysaccharides such as starches (wheat, potatoes, maize), lignocellulosic products (wood, straw) and others (pectin, chitosan/chitin, gum).

1.2 Protein and lipids from animals (casein, whey, collagen/gelatin) and from plants (zein, soya and gluten)

2. Polymers from microbial production such as polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs), poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) (PHB), Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV), cellulose, dextran, glycogen and poly- γ -glutamate.

3. Polymers from chemical synthesized using monomers obtained from agroresources such as poly(lactic acid) (PLA) (Vieira *et al.*, 2011)

Biopolymers from microbial production

A wide range of biopolymers can be synthesized by bacteria. Biopolymers properties are suitable for various industrial and medical applications (Table 1). Bacteria use different carbon sources to produce a diverse range of polymers with different chemical and material properties. Four major classes of polymers produced by many species of bacteria are polyesters, polysaccharides, polyamides and polyphosphates (Rehm, 2010).

Polymer	Polymer	Primary	Main	Precursors	Polymerizing	Producer	Industrial		
class	localization	structure	components		enzyme		applications		
Polysaccharides									
Glycogen	Intracellular	α -(1,6)- branched α -(1,4)-linked homopolymer	Glucose	ADP-glucose	Glycogen synthase (GlgA)	Bacteria and Archaea	NA		
Alginate	Extracellular	β-(1,4)-linked non-repeating heteropolymer	Mannuronic acid and guluronic acid	GDP– mannuronic Acid	Glycosyltrans ferase (Alg8)	Pseudomonas spp. and Azotobacter spp.	Biomaterial (Tissue scaffold and drug delivery)		
Xanthan	Extracellular	β -(1,4)-linked repeating heteropolymer consisting of pentasaccharide units	Glucose, mannose and glucuronate	UDP-glucose, GDP-mannose and UDP- glucuronate	Xanthan polymerase (GumE)	Xanthomonas spp.	Food additive (Thickener and emulsifier)		
Dextran	Extracellular	$\begin{array}{c} \alpha-(1,2)/\alpha-(1,3)/\\ \alpha-(1,4)-\\ \text{branched}\\ \alpha-(1,6)\text{-linked}\\ \text{homopolymer} \end{array}$	Glucose	Saccharose	Dextransucrase (DsrS)	<i>Leuconostoc</i> spp. and <i>Streptococcus</i> spp.	Blood plasma extender and chromate- graphy media		
Curdlan	Extracellular	β-(1,3)-linked homopolymer	Glucose	UDP-glucose	Curdlan synthase (CrdS)	Agrobacterium spp., Rhizobium spp. and Cellulomonas spp.	Food additive (Thickener and gelling agent)		

Table 1 Classes of bacterial polymers and their characteristics (Rehm, 2010)

Polymer	Polymer	Primary	Main	Precursors	Polymerizing	Producer	Industrial
class	localization	structure	components		enzyme		applications
Gellan	Extracellular	β -(1,3)-linked	Glucose,	UDP-	Gellan	Sphingomonas	Culture media
		repeating	rhamnose	glucose,	synthase	spp.	additive, food
		heteropolymer	and	dTDP-	(GelG)		additive
		consisting of	glucuronate	rhamnose			(Gelling
		tetrasaccharide		and			agent) or for
		units		UDP-			encapsulation
				glucuronate			
Colanic	Extracellular	β -(1,4)-linked	Fucose,	GDP-1-	Colanic acid	Escherichia coli,	NA
acid		repeating	glucose,	fucose,	polymerase	Enterobacter	
		heteropolymer	glucuronate	UDPd-	(WcaD)	spp., Shigella	
		consisting of	and	glucose,		spp., and	
		hexasaccharide	galactose	UDP-d-		Salmonella spp.	
		units		galactose			
				and			
				UDP-d-			
				glucuronate			
K30	Capsular	β -(1,2)-linked	Mannose,	UDP-d-	Polysaccharide	Escherichia coli	NA
antigen		repeating	galactose	glucose,	polymerase		
		heteropolymer	and	UDPd-	(Wzy)		
		consisting of	glucuronate	galactose			
		tetrasaccharide		and			
		units		UDP-d-			
				glucuronate			
1			1				

Table 1 (cont.) Classes of bacterial polymers and their characteristics (Rehm, 2010)

Polymer	Polymer	Primary	Main	Precursors	Polymerizing	Producer	Industrial
class	localization	structure	components		enzyme*		applications‡
Cellulose	Extracellular	β -(1,4)-linked	d-glucose	UDP-d-glucose	Cellulose	Alphaproteobacteria,	Diaphragms
		homopolymer			synthase	Betaproteobacteria,	of acoustic
					(BcsA)	Gammaproteobacteri	transducers
						a and Gram-positive	and wound
						bacteria	dressing
Hyaluronic	Extracellular	β -(1,4)-linked	Glucuronate	UDP-d-	Hyaluronan	Streptococcus spp.	Cosmetics,
acid		repeating	and N-acetyl	glucuronate	synthase	and Pasteurella	Viscosupple
		heteropolymer	glucosamine	and UDP– <i>N</i> -	(HasA)	multocida	mentation,
		consisting of		acetyl			tissue repair
		disaccharide		glucosamine			and drug
		units					delivery
Polyamides							
Cyanophycin	Intracellular	Intracellular	Aspartate	(β-	Cyanophycin	Cyanobacteria,	Dispersant and
granule		Repeating	and arginine	spartatearginine)	synthetase	Acinetobacter	water softener
peptide		heteropolymer		3-phosphate,	(CphA)	spp. and	(after removal
		consisting of		ATP, l-arginine		Desulfitobacterium	of arginyl
		dipeptide units		and l-aspartate		spp.	residues)
ε-poly-l-	Extracellular	Homopolymer	1-lysine	l-lysine, ATP	ε-poly-l-	Streptomyces	Feed
lysine				and	lysine	Albulus sub sp.	preservative
				l-lysine-AMP	synthetase	lysinopolymerus	and, when
					(Pls)		cross-linked,
							adsorbent
							(in medicine)

Table 1 (cont.) Classes of bacterial polymers and their characteristics (Rehm, 2010)

Polymer class	Polymer localization	Primary structure	Main componen	Precursors	Polymerizing enzyme	Producer	Industrial Applications	
Poly- γ-glutamate	Extracellular or capsular	Homopolymer	d- glutamate and/or l- glutamate	(Glutamate) <i>n</i> - phosphate, ATP and glutamate	Poly- γ-glutamate synthetase (PgsBC; also known as CapBC)	Bacillus spp., Fusobacterium Nucleatum, Natronococcus occultus and Natrialba aegyptiaca	Replacement of polyacrylate, thickener, humectant, drug delivery and cosmetics	
Polyester								
Polyhydroxyal kanoates	Intracellular	Heteropolymer	(<i>R</i>)-3- hydroxy fatty acids	(<i>R</i>)-3- hydroxyacyl CoA	Polyhydroxyal kanoate synthase (PhaC)	Bacteria and Archaea	Bioplastic, Biomaterial,and matrices for binding proteins	
Polyanhydrides								
Polyphosphate	Intracellular	Homopolymer	Phosphate	ATP	Polyphosphate kinase (PPK)	Bacteria and Archaea	Replacement of ATP in enzymatic synthesis and flavour enhancer	

Table 1 (cont.) Classes of bacterial polymers and their characteristics (Rehm, 2010)

2. Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs)

Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) are thermoplastic polyesters of

R-hydroxyalkanoic acids which are renewable, biodegradable and biocompatible polymers (Doi, 1990; Reddy et al., 2013). PHAs are the class of linear polyester compounds with similar properties to polypropylene and polyethylene (Suriyamongkol et al., 2007). PHAs are synthesized by microorganisms from various substrates as carbon sources. They are intracellular carbon and energy storage in bacteria under carbon excess and limitation of nitrogen, phosphorus or oxygen. If limiting nutrient is provided to the cell, PHAs will be degraded and used as carbon source for bacterial growth. PHAs accumulate in cytoplasmic granules with diameter from 0.2 to 0.5 μ m. These granules can be divined by phase contrast microscopy or using staining dyes such as Sudan Black B and Nile red (Urtuvia et al., 2014). The structure, physico-chemical properties, monomer composition and the number and size of the granules vary depending on the organisms (Ha and Cho, 2002). PHAs are synthesized by a wide variety of bacteria such as Bacillus megaterium, Ralstonia eutropha, Alcaligenes latus, Azotobacter vinelandii, Pseudomonas oleovorans, Pseudomonas acidophila, Escherishia coli, Acinetobacter spp. and the family Halobactericeae of the Archaea (Moita and Lemos, 2011). They have diverse structures and display different properties. Over 150 different types of PHAs can be synthesized by different bacterial species and growth conditions, resulting in an excessive diversity of material properties (Reddy et al., 2013). PHAs exhibit a crystallinity ranging from 30% to 70% and a melting temperature from 50 °C to 180 °C; these thermoplastic material properties make PHAs commercially suitable to oilbased plastics. PHAs are accumulated as spherical intracellular inclusions with an

amorphous, hydrophobic PHAs core that enclosed by proteins involved in PHAs metabolism (Figure 1) (Grage *et al.*, 2009; Jendrossek, 2009). In addition, PHAs are biocompatible polymer and their breakdown products are 3-hydroxyacids, which are normally found in animals. Because of versatility and biocompatibility, PHAs can be very useful in many medical applications, such as bone implants, sutures, osteosynthetic materials, gauzes, suture filaments, nanoparticles for drug delivery, and biocompatible porous implants (Zinn *et al.*, 2001; Sudesh, 2004; Chen, 2005; Chen and Wu, 2005A, B; Sudesh and Doi, 2005; Rehm, 2010; Shrivastav *et al.*, 2013 and Urtuvia *et al.*, 2014) (Table1). In addition, PHAs can be used in daily-life products including containers, bottles, razors, bags, pencils, plates, glasses and materials for food packaging (Urtuvia *et al.*, 2014). PHAs latex can be used to produce a water-resistant layer for film, paper or cardboard (Hocking and Marchessault, 1994).



Figure 1 The structure of polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) granules in bacteria (Rehm, 2010)

3. Substrates for bacterial PHAs production

One of the most significant barriers for an increase industrial PHAs production is its high cost. PHAs price vary from 2.5 to 5 USD per kg whereas polypropylene price varies from 0.5-2 USD per kg. Production costs of PHAs are currently 5–10 times of the cost of plastic derived from petrochemicals, which is a major drawback for the successful commercialization.

The product price depends up to 50% of raw material cost, mainly the carbon source (Khanna and Srivastava, 2005; Rehm, 2010). A wide range of substrates used for PHAs production by different pathways are shown in Figure 2. Substrates that have been reported for PHAs production are:

1. Renewable sources such as starch, cellulose, sucrose, triglycerides, wheat and hemicelluloses

2. Sub-products such as glycerol, molasses, whey, rice bran and corn steep liquor

3. Organic acids such as 4-hydroxybutyric acid and propionic acid

4. Fossil resources such as mineral oil, methane, hard coal and lignite

5. Wastes such as wastewater, activated sludge and palm oil mill effluents (Urtuvia *et al.*, 2014).


Figure 2 Metabolic pathways of PHAs synthesis by different carbon sources (Tsuge, 2002)

Glucose and sucrose are used in pathway I and III to produce PHB and pathway II to produce copolymers (Figure 2). These two sugars have been used for industrial PHA production. Glucose and sucrose show high impact on PHAs production cost. Therefore, low cost raw materials are interesting for industrial scale (Tsuge, 2002; Keshavarz and Roy, 2010). Low cost carbohydrate waste such as sugar beet molasses and soy molasses have been used for PHB production (Mercan and Beyatli, 2005; Full *et al.*, 2006). Low cost fatty acids such as renewable vegetable oils, waste free frying oil, biodiesel liquid waste and various waste products are metabolized by pathway II to produce PHB and copolymers (Steinbüchel and Lutke-Eversloh, 2003; Fernandez *et al.*, 2005; Wong *et al.*, 2004, 2005; Chanasit *et al.*, 2014; Chanasit *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, cyanobacteria can use carbon dioxide to produce PHAs (Jau *et al.*, 2005) (Table 2).

Table 2 Overview of bacterial strains used low cost carbon sources to produce

PHAs

Bacterial strain (s)	Carbon source (s)	Polymer (s)	Reference
Alcaligenes latus	Malt, soy waste, milk waste, vinegar waste, sesame oil	PHB	Wong <i>et al.</i> , 2004, 2005
Bacillus cereus	Sugarbeet Molasses	PHB	Yilmaz and Beyatli, 2005
Bacillus spp.	soy molasses	PHB	Full et al., 2006
Burkholderia cepacia	Palm olein, palm stearin, crude palm oil, palm kernel oil sugarbeet molasses	PHB, PHBV	Alias and Tan, 2005 Celik <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	waste free fatty acids, waste free frying oil	mcl-PHA	Fernandez <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Rhizobium meliloti, R. viciae, Bradyrhizobium japonicum	sugar beet molasses, whey	РНВ	Mercan and Beyatli, 2005
Spirulina platensis (cyanobacterium)	Carbon dioxide	РНВ	Jau <i>et al.</i> , 2005
Staphylococcus epidermidis	Malt, milk waste, soy waste, sesame oil, vinegar waste	PHB	Wong <i>et al.</i> , 2004, 2005
Bacillus aryabhattai	Biodiesel liquid waste	PHB	Chanasit et al., 2014
Pseudomonas mendocina	Biodiesel liquid waste	РНВ	Chanasit et al., 2016
Cupriavidus necatorH16	Hydrogen, carbon dioxide, waste glycerol	РНВ	Pohlmann <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Cavalheiro <i>et al.</i> , 2009

4. PHAs structure

PHAs are composed of 3-hydroxy fatty acid monomers, which form linear, head-to-tail polyesters. PHAs are commonly produced as a polymer of 10^3 to 10^4

monomers, which accumulate as inclusions of 0.2–0.5 µm in diameter. Alkyl groups, which show the R configuration at the C-3, vary from one carbon (C1) to over 14 carbons (C14) in length (Figure 3). PHAs can be separated into three broad classes according to the size of the monomers. PHAs involve up to C5 monomers are classified as short chain length PHAs (scl-PHA). PHAs with C6–C14 are classified as medium chain length (mcl-PHA). PHAs containing more than C14 monomers are classified as long chain length (lcl-PHA) PHAs (Madison and Huisman, 1999). Scl-PHAs have properties close to conventional plastics (Lee, 1996). PHAs made of longer monomers, such as mcl-PHAs and lcl-PHA are regarded as elastomers and sticky materials, which can also be modified to make rubbers. The large diversity of monomers found in PHAs keeps a wide spectrum of polymers with differing physical properties.



	PHA	
n = 1 $R = H$	Poly(3-hydroxypropionate)	(P3HP)
R = methyl	Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)	(P3HB)
R = ethyl	Poly(3-hydroxyvalerate)	(P3HV)
R = propyl	Poly(3-hydroxyhexanoate)	(P3HHx)
R = pentyl	Poly(3-hydroxyoctanoate)	(P3HO)
R = nonyl	Poly(3-hydroxydodecanoate)	(P3HDD)
n = 2 R = H	Poly(4-hydroxybutyrate)	(P4HB)
n=3 $R=H$	Poly(5-hydroxyvalerate)	(P5HV)

Figure 3 General structure of polyhydroxyalkanoates (Hazer et al., 2012)

5. PHAs biosynthesis

Biosynthesis of PHAs basically occurs in three steps (Figure 4).

1. β-ketothiolase or (PhaA) function to produce acetoacetyl-CoA from acetyl-CoA.

2. Generation of hydroxyacyl-CoAs (HA-CoAs) using diverse metabolites as precursors and NADPH-dependent acetoacetyl-CoA reductase or (PhaB).

3. Polymerization of the HA-CoAs into PHAs which using PHA synthases (PhaC).





PHA synthases are the key enzymes of PHAs biosynthesis. These enzymes have a broad range of substrate specificities. PHA synthases are generally classified into four groups: class I, II, III, and IV (Table 3) (Park *et al.*, 2012).

Class I and II PHA synthases are consist of 1 subunit enzyme, PhaC. Class I PHA synthases from bacteria such as *Alcaligenes latus* and *Ralstonia eutropha* accept SCL-HA-CoAs for polymerization (Schubert *et al.*, 1988). Class II PHA synthases mainly from *Pseudomonas* sp. show substrate specificity towards MCL-HA-CoAs (Steinbüchel *et al.*, 2010). Some class II PHA synthases from *Pseudomonas* sp. 6–19 and *Pseudomonas* sp. 61–3 accept MCL monomers and weak activity towards SCLmonomers (Matsusaki *et al.*, 1998). Class III PHA synthases are consist of 2 different subunits, PhaC and PhaE (Liebergesell and Steinbüchel, 1992). Class III PHA synthases are highly specific for SCL-HA-CoAs. However, it can accept MCL-HA-CoAs when expressed in some *Pseudomonas* sp. (Liebergesell *et al.*, 2000). Class IV PHA synthases are consist of 2 different subunits such as PhaC and PhaR. This enzyme is usually found in *Bacillus* strains accumulating PHB (McCool and Cannon, 2001; Satoh *et al.*, 2002).

 Table 3 Classical PHA synthases in different classes depending on the subunit

 composition and substrate specificities (Park *et al.*, 2012).

PHA synthases	Subunits	Organism	Substrate
Class I	PhaC and PhaC	Ralsonia eutropha	C3-C5
Class II	PhaC1 and PhaC2	Pseudomonas sp.	C6-C14
Class III	PhaC and PhaE	Allochromatium vinosum	C3-C6
Class IV	PhaC and PhaR	Bacillus cereus	C3-C5

6. PHA copolymers

Polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) is one of the best-known biodegradable PHAs. PHB is usual thermoplastic polyester and has many mechanical properties proportional to synthetically-produced degradable polyesters. The homopolymer PHB is a relatively stiff and brittle bioplastic, which has limited use.

PHAs consist of HB with a longer chain monomers fraction such as HV, HO or HH are tougher and more flexible plastics. They can be used in a wide variety of

products including bottles, razors, containers and materials for biomedical applications, food packaging and latex (Hocking and Marchessault, 1994).

Heteropolymers can be produced by polymerization between more than one kind of monomer. Copolymers of PHAs can be produced containing 3hydroxybutyrate (3HB), 3-hydroxyvalerate (HV), 4-hydroxybutyrate (4HB) or 3hydroxyhexanoate (HHx) monomers. Most of the microorganisms synthesize either containing primarily scl-PHAs 3HB units or mcl-PHAs containing 3hydroxydecanoate (HD) and 3-hydroxyoctanoate (HO) as the major monomers (Anderson and Dawes, 1990; Steinbüchel and Schlegel, 1991; Lee, 1996; Steinbüchel, 2001). The final material properties were affected by copolymers composition. Carbon source is one of the factors that determine the type of PHAs constituents. Microorganisms are capable of producing PHAs from various carbon sources. Different metabolic pathways have been shown the various types of monomer incorporated into PHAs (Figure 5) (Park et al., 2012). Unusual PHA monomer, except PHB, cannot be produced from simple carbon sources. Precursor substrates are needed to be incorporated into PHA's structure. The position of hydroxyl group of the component is already contained in the structure of carbon source. Hydroxyl group may be replaced by an amino or a keto group but an unusual hydroxyacyl-coenzyme A thioester is synthesized from the structurally related carbon source. Precursor substrates are more expensive than renewable resources and most of them are toxic. Precursor carbon source can be provided at high concentration in the medium with advanced process engineering for efficient PHAs production (Steinbüchel and Eversloh, 2003). PHBV copolymers are produced under nitrogen limited conditions from Alcaligenes latus, Bacillus cereus, Pseudomonas pseudoflava, Pseudomonas *cepacia, Micrococcus halodenitrificans*, and *Ralstonia eutropha* when cells are supplied with glucose (or sucrose in case of *A. latus*) and propionic acid or other propionogenic carbon sources (Ramsay *et al.*, 1990). The mixture of the substrates can also produce either PHB homopolymer or PHBV copolymers depending on their concentrations (Koçer *et al.*, 2003). When HV monomer is increase, the melting temperature, glass transition temperature, Young's modulus and tensile strength are low and Impact strength is high. So, the material with high HV content is easy to process, flexible and high toughness (Hocking and Marchessault, 1994). *Aeromonas hydrophila* is able to synthesize PHBHHx copolyesters containing about 15 mol% 3HHx when grown in the presence of long chain fatty acids, such as dodecanoate, regardless of growth conditions (Lee *et al.*, 2000). When gluconate is used as a cosubstrate together with dodecanoate, the recombinant strain produces PHBHHx containing 3–12 mol% of 3HHx, depending on the gluconate concentration in media (Qiu *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 5 Biosynthesis of PHAs consisting of 3HP, 3HA, 3HB, 3HV and 4HB containing PHA (Park *et al.*, 2012)

7. PHAs applications

PHAs have been used in many medical and pharmaceutical applications because they are biodegradable, biocompatible and wide physical properties. Recently, PHAs are used as heart valve scaffolds, pulmonary conduits, sutures, screws, bone plates, repair patches, stents, bone marrow scaffolds and drug delivery, wound dressings, tissue engineered, cardiovascular devices, bone-marrow scaffolds, tendon repair devices, nerve guides, articular cartilage repair devices, guided tissue repair devices, stents, adhesion barriers, orthopedic pins, cardiovascular patches, slings, repair patches, nerve repair devices and sutures (Table 4) (Furrer *et al.*, 2008; Hazer *et al.*, 2012; Butt *et al.*, 2018). For examples, PHB microspheres could release rifampicin 90% in 24 h. So, drug release rate could be controlled by drug loading and particle size (Kassab *et al.*, 1997). PHBV was used as an antibiotic-loaded carrier to

treat implant-related and chronic osteomyelitis. The result showed that infection subsided after 15 days and was completely healed after 30 days (Yagmurlu *et al.*, 1999). PHBV film that hydrophilized by oxygen plasma treatment was used for growing epithelium cells (Tezcaner *et al.*, 2003). PHO and P4HB with porous surface were used as tri-leaflet heart valve scaffold (Sodian *et al.*, 2000). PHBHHx was suitable biomaterial for osteoblast attachment, proliferation and differentiation in bone marrow cells (Wang *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, PHA *co*-polymers that composed of HB with long chain monomers, such as HV, HHx or HO, are more flexible and less brittle than PHB. They can be used as containers, bottles, razors, and materials for food packaging (Martini *et al.*, 1989). PHAs were used as packaging films and disposable items such as shopping bags, cosmetic containers and paper coatings (Clarinval and Halleux, 2005; Mikova and Chodak, 2006).

Modified/unmodified PHA	Physical properties	Medical application
P3(HB)	-	Subcutanous patches
PHB/VA	-	Subcutanous patches
PHB/PHV	-	Suture
PHB/VA	Design of a 3D	Myocardial patch
	microfibrous material-	
	formed by the blend	
	and electrospun into	
	fiber materials	
P3(HB)		Peripheral nerve guide
PHBHHx	Flexible	Vessel stent, hemocompatibility
		and cytocompatibility;
		it holds promise as a blood-
		contact material with less
		platelet adhesion, reduced
		erythrocyte contact
PHBHHx	Porous tube form,	Nerve conduit
	flexible	
Fibronectin and alginate		Spinal cord injury
covered PHB-fiber		
PHBV-PLGA	Turning a porous	Nerve guide
	micropatterned film	
	into a tube wrapping	
	aligned electrospun	
DUD	fibers	
PHB	Asymetric patches	Stomach wall patch
PHBHHx	Scattold, flexible	Bone regeneration
PHB/VA		Bone regeneration, better
		performances on attachment,
		proliferation, and differentiation
HA reinforced PHB		Bone regeneration
HA reinforced PHB/VA		Bone regeneration

Table 4 PHAs used in biomedical applications (Hazer et al., 2012).

Modified/unmodified PHA	Physical properties	Medical application
РНВННх	Porous three dimensional scaffolds, flexible	Cartilage proliferation
PHB/VA	Chondrocyte seeded	Cartilage proliferation
PHB/PHBHHx	Human adipose tissue embedded scaffolds	Cartilage proliferation
PHB microspheres	Solvent evaporation	Drug delivery,
	technique	chemoembolization
PHBV and P(3HB-4HB)	Semicrystalline	Drug delivery
PHB homopolymers	Unable to entrap the drug	Not available for drug
	because of its high	delivery
	melting temperature and	
	rapid crystallization rate	
РНО	Autologous ovine endothelial cell seeded	Pulmonary valve
РНО	Autologous ovine	Pulmonary heart valve
	endothelial cell seeded	
	porous PHO patches	
PHO-Sy		Subcutaneous patches
PHOU-Au		Subcutaneous patches
PHACOS	Biosynthetic good	
	thermal stability up to 200 °C	

Table 4 (cont.) PHAs used in biomedical applications (Hazer et al., 2012)

8. Chemical modifications of PHAs

PHB is a potential material substitute in biomedical and packaging fields because of biodegradability, biocompatibility, availability and thermoplasticity. However, the use of PHB is primarily limited in industrial and biomedical applications by their high cost, thermal instability and poor mechanical properties. The major drawbacks of PHB is high melting temperature and low toughened due to secondary crystallization and slow nucleation rate. PHB was improved by drawing and thermal treatment, blending with biomaterials or synthetic polymers, forming reinforced with composites such as natural fibers and inorganic fillers (Yeo *et al.*, 2018). A common way to insert broad applicability properties in PHB and to minimize the unwanted properties is blending with suitable well defined polymers (Bhatt *et al.*, 2008).

9. Polymer blends

Polymer blends is a mixing of two or more different polymers together that make it possible to achieve various property combinations of the final material. The cost of specific materials that made from this method are lower than synthesis of new polymers. Five different methods are used for the preparation of polymer blends (Khan *et al.*, 2018).

9.1 Melt mixing is the most comprehensive method of polymer blend. The blend components are mixed in the molten state in batch mixers or extruders. Advantages of the method are well-defined components and acceptance of mixing devices. Disadvantages of the method are high energy consumption and possible unfavorable chemical changes of blend components.

9.2 Solution blending is frequently used for preparation of polymer blends on a laboratory scale. The blend components are dissolved in a common solvent and intensively stirred. The blend is separated by precipitation or evaporation of the solvent. Advantages of the process are rapid mixing of the system without large energy consumption and the potential to avoid unfavorable chemical reactions. However, this method is limited by the requirement to find a common solvent for the blend components and to remove large amounts of organic solvent.

9.3 A blend with heterogeneities can be prepared by mixing of latexes without using large energy consumption or organic solvents. Energy is required only for removing water and finally achievement of finer dispersion by melt mixing. The requirement to have all components in latex form limits the use of the process.

9.4 Block or graft copolymerization can be prepared by forming a copolymer sufficient for achieving good adhesion between immiscible phases of homopolymer.Properties of materials that prepared by this method are better than pure melt mixing.However, this process is complicated and expensive.

9.5 Formation of interpenetrating polymer networks can be prepared by forming network between two polymers. One polymer is swollen with the other monomer or prepolymer. Then, the monomer or prepolymer is crosslinked. Only reactoplastics are prepared by this method.

10. PHA blending

Blending is the easiest, most effective and economical method to improve physical and mechanical properties of materials. Recently, PHB blended with biodegradable polymers have been an interest because of sustainability and ecofriendly (Yeo *et al.*, 2018). For example, PHBV was added to PLA fibers to increase the flexibility of PLA. PLA/PHBV blends (95/5 and 90/10) were used as textile fibers for knitting socks (Pivsa-Art *et al.*, 2011). PHBV/chitosan fibrillar scaffolds were successfully produced for used in biomedical field. This hybrid fibers show high degradation rates. (Veleirinho *et al.*, 2011). Addition of (3-hydroxyoctanoate) (PHO) to PLA was improved the elongation at break and impact properties of PLA (Nerkar *et al.*, 2015). PHB blended with starch was lower cost and more thermally stable than PHB. It can be used in paper coating and cardboard packaging field (Godbole *et al.*, 2003). PHB/starch ratio of 70:30 reduced the size of PHB spherulites and enhanced toughness of PHB and thermal stability (Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Cellulose nanocrystals (CNCs) was used as bio-fillers for PHB polymer. Tensile modulus and strength of PHB/CNC nanocomposites (6% CNC content) had increased 50% and 35%, respectively. Moreover, elastic modulus was increased 2% and hardness values was 155–165 MPa (Seoane *et al.*, 2016). Hydrogen bonding between carbonyl groups of PHB and amine groups of chitin promoted rapid growth of PHB crystals. So, the structure of PHB in PHB/Chitin blends was changed and crystallinity was decreased (Raghunatha *et al.*, 2015). PHB that blended with PVAs showed higher toughness. Elongation at break of the material increased from 23 to 257% and impact strength increased from 0.4 to 0.8 ft lb/in with no expense in stiffness (Whitehouse and Lexington, 2016).

11. Natural rubber

Natural rubber is the most important polymers produced by plants. It is a strategically important raw material used in many products in medical devices. Natural rubber is obtained from latex, an aqueous emulsion present in the laticiferous vessels or parenchymal cells of rubber-producing plants. Although more than 2500 plant species are known to produce natural rubber latex. Recently, there is only one important commercial source, *Hevea brasiliensis* (the Brazilian rubber tree). Another important plant that can produce rubber latex is *Parthenium argentatum*, which called guayule. The rubber from this plant is being marketed as non-allergenic natural rubber (Puskas *et al.*, 2006).

The natural rubber polymers composed of 100% cis-1,4-polyisoprene with Mw ranging from 1 x 10^6 to 2.5 x 10^6 . Natural rubber was added to improve the elasticity properties (ductility and impact resistance) of polymers. The main objective of rubber blend is to improve the mechanical properties (stiffness and hardness)

because the adding natural rubber to a thermoplastic component increases the toughness (impact strength) but unfortunately decreases the stiffness (tensile modulus), strength and hardness of the resulting blend (Bendjaouahdou and Bensaad, 2013). Blending rubbers with PHA may help in decreasing melting temperature (T_m) and reducing crystallinity which provides elasticity and toughness needed for many plastic applications (Bhatt *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, rubbers are another class of polymers which are biodegradable. Several species of bacteria and fungi are able to degrad rubber (Rose and Steinbüchel, 2005). Rubber blends attemp interesting possibility of preparing biodegradable materials with useful mechanical properties. However, natural rubber and PHA have different molecular weight and polarity. Natural rubber should be modified by reducing molecular weight of natural rubber or using epoxidized natural rubber (ENR).

12. Epoxidized natural rubber (ENR)

Epoxidized natural rubber (ENR) is a modified natural rubber (NR) which has recently attracted the attention of many researchers. ENR is prepared from NR (*cis*-1,4-isoprene) by treating it with peracetic acid as shown in Figure 6a. Isoprene and epoxidized isoprene are monomer units that randomly distributed along the polymer chain. ENR has some special properties such as low gas permeability, excellent oil resistance, good anti-wet skid resistance and highly damping properties (Hamzah *et al.*, 2012). Degree of epoxidation of NR is depended on isoprene units in the polymer chain. ENR-25, ENR-50 and ENR-75 are polymer chain that isoprene units are epoxidized 25%, 50% and 75%, respectively. The toughness of ENR is relative to natural rubber (NR). However, some mechanical and thermal properties slightly decrease because of the presence of epoxy groups on the backbone chains. The epoxy

linkage is expected to be a reactive site for bonding between the PHB and ENR chains (Gelling, 1991; Lee *et al.*, 2005; Hamzah *et al.*, 2012; Tanjung *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 6 (a) Modification of NR to ENR.

(b) The general structure of ENR-50 (Hamzah *et al.*, 2012).

ENR particles were added in a plastic matrix to improve the toughness of the material. This method makes them suitable for applicationin automotive, aerospace, thermal, and electrical insulatingsystems (Pire *et al.*, 2011). The major products of ENR/plastic blends are mold forms such as sponges, curing tubes, carpet underlays, connectors, curing flaps, bumpers, heavy duty pads, seals, gaskets and wheels (Saito *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, ENR blends are used as pressure-sensitive adhesives, adhesive tapes, packaging tapes, surgical tapes and plasters (Johnson *et al.*, 2000).

13. Polyhydroxyalkanoates degradation

PHAs can be degraded completely to form products non-harmful to the environment such as carbon dioxide and water under aerobic conditions or methane and water under anaerobic conditions. Biodegradation rate is depended on environmental factors such as temperature, pH, moisture, nutrient supply, microbial

population and PHAs properties such as crystallinity, additives and surface area (Doi, 1990). PHAs are degraded by soil and aquatic microorganisms that have specific enzymes; PHA depolymerases (Jendrossek and Handrick, 2002; Kim et al., 2003). There are two main types of PHA depolymerases which can be classified as intracellular and extracellular depolymerases. Intracellular depolymerases required nutrients to degrade the native PHA. While extracellular depolymerases hydrolyze water insoluble PHA to soluble monomers. Six hundred PHA depolymerases from various microorganisms have been identified by comparison of their amino-acid sequences provided a basis for uniting them in 8 super families including 38 families (Knoll et al., 2009). This type of polymer degradation depends on conditions like inorganic nutrient composition and environment temperature. Among PHA biodegraders, various microorganisms such as Pseudomonas lemoignei, Alcaligenes faecalis and Comamonas testosteroni (Varsha and Savitha, 2011) degraded PHAs in soil, compost, fresh waters, and marine environments (Volova et al., 2010). PHBHHx was degraded 80% when buried at a secondary forest for 3 weeks and PHB was degraded 50% when buried at a secondary forest for 8 weeks (Ong and Sudesh, 2016). PHB films was degraded 50% when buried in a tropical mangroved for 4 weeks (Sridewi et al., 2006). PHB and PHBV were degraded 42% and 46% when incubated in the marine environment for 160 days (Volova et al., 2010).

OBJECTIVES

- 1. To optimize the condition for polyhydroxybutyrate (PHB) and poly(3hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV) production
- 2. To produce polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA)-natural rubber blends
- 3. To characterize PHB, PHBV and PHB- natural rubber blends
- 4. To study biodegradation of PHB, PHBV and PHB- natural rubber blends

Expected outcomes

- 1. To achieve the optimum condition for PHB and PHBV production.
- 2. To obtain the materials that have higher elastic properties and lower melting point than PHB
- 3. The obtained material that can be naturally degraded in environment

CHAPTER 2

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY



Figure 7 The research outline of this study

1. PHAs production using Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as the sole carbon source

1.1 PHAs production by Pseudomonas mendocina PSU

Pseudomonas mendosina PSU was successfully isolated and identified by Miss Wankuson Chanasit (Chanasit *et al.*, 2016). It was grown on a nutrient rich (NR) agar plate for 24 h. Then, the cells were suspended in 0.85 % (w/v) sodium chloride to an optical density (600 nm) of 0.5. Two milliliter of cell suspension was inoculated into 50 mL of NR medium (Appendix A2) and incubated on a rotary shaker at 35 °C and 150 rpm (Chee *et al.*, 2010). The PHAs production was carried out in shake flasks using the biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as carbon source. After the *P. mendosina* PSU grew in NR broth until it reached mid exponential growth, 4.0 % (v/v) of the pregrown inoculums was inoculated into a 2 L Erlenmeyer flask containing 1,300 mL of mineral salt medium (MSM) pH 7.0 supplemented with 2.0 % (v/v) of BLW (Appendix A2). Aerobic condition was maintained by shaking at 150 rpm and 35 °C. Samples were taken every 12 h until 72 h of cultivation for the biomass concentration and PHAs content analysis. Dry cell weight (DCW) was measured following centrifugation of 10 mL of culture at 8,000 rpm for 20 min at 4 °C and the harvested cells were then dried at 60 °C to a constant weight (Chanasit *et al.*, 2016).

1.1.1 Determination of monomer composition and molecular weight of PHA from *P. mendocina* PSU

PHAs monomer composition was determined by Gas Chromatography (GC). Two milliliter of chloroform and acidified methanol (3.0% (v/v) H₂SO₄) were added into 20 mg of dried cells and then heated at 80 °C for 3.5 h. After cooling, 2 mL of distilled water was added followed by vigorous shaking for 4 min. Allowed the layers to separate for 12 h and the chloroform portion containing the PHA methyl esters was transferred to a vial for analysis by GC (Agilent 7890A, Agilent Technologies, US and Canada) (Sun *et al.*, 2007). Benzoic acid was used as the internal standard.

PHAs monomer composition was confirmed by ¹H NMR analysis. Approximately 10 mg of the extracted PHAs sample was dissolved in 0.68 ml deuterated chloroform (CDCl₃) for ¹H NMR analysis. ¹H spectra were recorded at 500MHz and room temperature on Fourier Transform NMR Spectrometer 500MHz Unity Inova, Varian (Germany). Chemical shifts were reported in ppm relative to the signal of the CDCl₃.

Molecular weight of PHAs from *P. mendocina* PSU was determined by Gel Permeation Chromatography (GPC). PHAs were dissolved in chloroform (1 mg mL⁻¹) and filtered through 0.22 μ m PTFE filter. The molecular weights of PHAs were determined using Agilent 1200 Series GPC with Shodex K-806M and Shodex K-802 column at 40 °C. Chloroform was used as the eluent. The injection volume was 50 mL with the flow rate of 1.00 mL min⁻¹.

1.2 Isolation of PHAs-accumulating bacteria and production of PHA using BLW and palm oil as the sole carbon source

1.2.1 Screening of PHAs-accumulating bacteria by the enrichment culture technique

The PHAs-producing bacteria were isolated from Sirindhorn peat swamp forest in Narathiwat, Thailand. Bacteria were isolated by adding 10 g of soil samples into 100 mL of MSM consisting of 2.0 % (v/v) BLW or palm oil as carbon source (Kulpreecha *et al.*, 2009). The pH of MSM was adjusted to 7.0 before sterilization. Cultures were incubated at 35 °C and 150 rpm for 4 weeks. Every week, 0.1 mL of bacterial culture was plated on MSM agar containing 2.0 % (v/v) BLW or palm oil. Bacterial colonies were stained with Sudan black B for 5 min and Safranin for 1 min to check for possible PHAs deposits (Burdon, 1946). The colonies that have PHAs granules were chosen and further analyzed.

1.2.2 Growth of newly isolated strains in the pre-culture medium

Each selected PHAs-producing bacteria was grown on a NR agar plate for 24 h. Then, cells were suspended in 0.85 % (w/v) sodium chloride to an optical density (600 nm) of 0.5. Four percent of cell suspension was inoculated into1.3 L of NR medium (Lau *et al.*, 2011) and incubated on a rotary shaker at 150 rpm and 35 °C for 76 h. Every 2-6 h, samples were taken and measured optical density (600 nm) by spectrophotometer.

1.2.3 PHAs accumulation of newly isolated strains in MSM medium

The pre-culture was incubated in a rotary incubator shaker at 150 rpm and 35 °C until mid-log phase was reached. Then, 4.0 % (v/v) of the pre-culture was added to the MSM consisting 2.0 % (v/v) BLW or palm oil as a carbon source. The culture was incubated on a rotary shaker at 150 rpm and 35 °C for 96 h. Dried cell weight and PHAs content were analyzed every 6 h. Ten mL of culture samples was centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 20 min at 4 °C and the harvested cells were then dried at 60 °C to a constant weight. DCW was calculated as grams of dry weight per liter. PHAs monomer composition was determined by GPC (Wong *et al.*, 2012).

Identification of the bacterial strain

The 16s rRNA gene sequence analysis was performed to identify and classify the PHAs-producing bacterium. The genomic DNA was extracted from the pellet using a TIANamp genomic DNA extraction kit (TIANamp bacteria DNA kit, Tiangen biotech, China). The primers used were 27F (5'- AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG – 3') and 1492R (5'- GGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT –3') to amplify the full length of the 16s rRNA gene. The following PCR parameters were used: 94 °C for 3 min, 35 thermal cycles of 94 °C for 30 s, 55 °C for 30 s, 72 °C for 2 min; followed by a final extension step at 72 °C for 10 min (Miller *et al.*, 2013). Nucleotide sequences of purified PCR products were determined using the DNA Analyzer and 16s rRNA nucleotide sequences were subsequently analyzed using the data available from the GenBank database of The National Center for Biotechnology Information. The max scores of *Burkholderia* type strains and an out-group strain named *Caballeronia concitans* LMG 29315 were collected for ClustalW alignment. A phylogenetic tree was constructed with Neighbour-joining statistical analysis (Tamura *et al.*, 2013).

2. PHBV production

2.1 Effect of sodium propionate concentrations on PHBV production

Sodium propionate was added as 3HV-precursors. PHA biosynthesis was carried out in one-stage cultures in shake flasks. The starter culture was grown in NR medium for 18 h at 35 °C. Four percent of the culture was transferred into 1,300 mL of MSM supplemented with 2.0 % (v/v) BLW and sodium propionate at 4 different concentrations (0.1, 0.3, 0.5, and 0.7%). The culture was incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm in a rotary shaker and samples were taken every 12 h until 72 h of cultivation. DCW was measured and PHA monomer composition was determined by GC.

2.2 Effect of nitrogen sources on PHBV production

The starter culture was pre-cultured in NR medium at 35 °C for 18 h. After that, the culture (4% v/v) was transferred into MSM. To observe the impact of nitrogen contents on PHBV production by *P. mendocina* PSU, concentration of urea and ammonium sulfate in MSM medium were varied. Ammonium sulfate (0.5, 1, and 1.5 g L^{-1}) and equal mole of urea were used as nitrogen sources. These culture flasks were then incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm. Samples were taken to analyze biomass concentrations and PHBV contents every 12 h until 96 h of cultivation. DCW was calculated as grams of dry weight per liter. PHBV monomer composition was determined by GC. Monomer composition was confirmed by ¹³C NMR analysis. Approximately 20 mg of the extracted PHBV was dissolved in 0.68 mL deuterated chloroform (CDCl₃) for ¹³C NMR analysis. ¹³C spectra were recorded at 500MHz and room temperature on Fourier Transform NMR Spectrometer 500MHz Unity Inova, Varian (Germany). Chemical shifts were reported in ppm relative to the signal of the CDCl₃. Molecular weight of PHA was determined by GPC.

3. PHA recovery

3.1 Chemical recovery of PHAs by chloroform extraction

Cells were harvested after 72 h of incubation and centrifuged at 8000 rpm for 15 min at 4 °C, washed twice in distilled water and dried at 60 °C for 3 days. The biomass (10 g) was extracted with 1 L of chloroform in a glass bottle and stirred for 5 days at room temperature. The chloroform solution was filtered to remove any cell debris and concentrated by rotary evaporation to a final volume of approximately 100 mL. PHAs were purified by precipitation, the PHAs chloroform solution was added into a cold methanol solution (400 mL) while being rapidly stirred by using a magnetic stirrer. The precipitated white PHA was then filtered through a Whatman No. 1 filtered paper, dried at room temperature and weighed. The polymer content was calculated as the percentage of PHAs in the cell. The purified polymer was kept at room temperature. Molecular weight of PHAs was determined by GPC. The glass transition temperature (T_g) and the melting temperature (T_m) were determined using Differential Scanning Calorimeter, DSC8500, Perkin Elmer (USA). Approximately 5 mg of the samples were encapsulated in standard aluminium DSC pans and heated from -50 °C to 200 °C at heating rate of 20 °C min⁻¹. Then, sample was cooled from 200 °C to -50 °C at heating rate of 20 °C min⁻¹ under a nitrogen atmosphere. After that, sample were reheated from -50 °C to 200 °C min⁻¹.

3.2 Biological recovery of PHAs by mealworms

PHAs from *P. mendocina* PSU cell pellets was extracted by mealworms (*Tenebrio molitor*). Mealworms obtained from the local shops were cultivated in plastic containers at room temperature. Two hundred grams of mealworms were fed with 10 g of the dried *P. mendocina* PSU cells for 5 days. Fecal pellets of mealworms were collected by sieving. After that, the fecal pellets containing PHAs granules were washed with 1% (w/v) SDS at 50 °C, 250 rpm for 10 h (1 g fecal pellets/10 mL 1% SDS). Every 2 h, the fecal pellets were collected by centrifugation and transferred to a new 1% SDS solution. Finally, cell pellets were dried overnight at 60 °C. The polymer content was calculated as the percentage of PHA in the cell.

The purified polymers from both methods were kept at room temperature. Molecular weight of PHA was determined by GPC. T_g and T_m were determined using DSC.

4. Preparation of PHB-rubber blends

Epoxidized natural rubber (ENR) is a modified natural rubber (NR) with epoxide rings on the rubber chain. The epoxy linkage is expected to be a reactive site for bonding between rubber chains and PHB. Moreover, ENR particles were added in a plastic matrix to improve the toughness of the material. Molecular weight of ENR was different from PHB, so molecular weight ENR was reduced by grinding with two roll mill. PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber in the ratio of 70:30 (PHB: ENR25) by 3 methods as followed:

4.1 Blending by solution blending

PHB (2.1 g) was dissolved in chloroform for 10 min. Then, ENR25 rubber (0.9 g) was added and stirred at 100 rpm for 12 h. The polymer blend was poured into petri dish. Solvent was removed by vacuum oven at 40 °C, 200 mbar for 3 h.



Figure 8 Diagram of solution blending method (Dong et al., 2018)

4.2 Blending by internal mixture

PHB (49 g) was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (21 g) by internal mixture at 170 $^{\circ}$ C, 60 rpm for 10 min (Mixture 350E, Brabender®, Germany). The

polymer films approximately 0.3 mm thick were prepared by rolling with two roll mill.



Figure 9 Schematic of internal mixture (Albert and Drobny, 2006)

4.3 Blending by twin screw extrusion

PHA (70 g) was blended with modified ENR25 (30 g) by twin screw extrusion. Melt compounding of PHB with modified ENR25 rubber by twin screw extrusion was achieved in a twin screw extruder with injection molder system (TSE 16 TC, Prism Co., LTD, Latvia). The extruder is supplied with co-rotating screws having lengths of 23 cm, with L/D ratio of 15:1. PHB and modified ENR25 were mixed together and fed to the extruder barrel. The materials were melted at 175 $^{\circ}$ C and 150 rpm.



Figure 10 Schematic of twin screw extrusion (White, 1991)

Characteristics and properties of mixed polymer films from the 3 methods were observed and analysed.

5. Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films

5.1 Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the soil burial test

The PHB-rubber blend films from solvent blending and melt blending, PHBV, PHB from *P. mendocina*, PHB from *B. Contaminans*, NR, rubber glove and ENR25, were cut into small pieces with the dimension of 1 cm x 1 cm. A plastic net was sewed to keep the films. Each square film was weighed and placed into the net. Samples were buried in the soil at a depth of 15 cm (duplicates for each sample) for 4 weeks. Every 2 weeks, polymer films were removed from the pouch and rinsed with distilled water to remove the soil. The samples were dried at room temperature and placed in a desiccator until constant weights were reached. The weight of each film was reported. The degradation of the films was calculated in terms of percentage of weight loss by using the following formula:

(Weight of initial film - Weight of film after degradation) x 100

Weight of initial film

The photos of the polymer films were taken to record the physical changes of the films.



Figure 11 Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the soil burial test

5.2 Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by rubber degrading bacteria consortium

The consortium was obtained from Miss Sirimaporn Watcharakul (Watcharakul *et al.*, 2016). The microbial consortium was priory enriched in MSM with rubber pieces for a period of 7 days, and was then used as an inoculum. Each tested film was grown with the rubber degrading consortium. The investigations of materials degradation were established using two replicates. In addition, an abiotic control experiment was always done in parallel in the same conditions. All cultures were incubated 30 °C, 150 rpm in Mineral Salt Medium (MSM, 9 g/L Na₂HPO₄.12 H₂O, 1.5 g/L KH₂PO₄, 1 g/L NH₄NO₃, 0.2 g/L MgSO₄.7 H₂O, 0.02 g/L CaCl₂.2 H₂O and 1.2 mg/L Fe(III) ammonium citrate) (Jendrossek *et al.*, 1997) supplemented with 1x1 cm pieces of sterilized material as a carbon source. Every 2 weeks, polymer films were removed from the pouch and rinsed with distilled water to remove the soil. The samples were dried at room temperature and placed in a desiccator until constant weights were reached. The

weight of each film was reported. The degradation of the films was calculated in terms of percentage of weight loss by using the following formula:

(Weight of initial film - Weight of film after degradation) x 100

Weight of initial film

The photo of the polymer films were taken to record the physical changes of the films.

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

PHAs production using Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as the sole carbon source Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) and PHAs production using BLW

Biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) is generated at approximately 10% (w/w) as the main by-product of biodiesel production (Yang et al., 2012). BLW contained about 40% of carbon and it was used as a carbon source for microbial growth. BLW used in this study had 40% carbon elements and 0% nitrogen elements. This carbon source contained high carbon content but low nitrogen content that was suitable for PHAs production. The major component of BLW is glycerol. In addition, BLW also contains free fatty acid (FFA) and fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) that can be used as carbon sources to enhance bacterial growth and PHA biosynthesis (Chanasit et al., 2016). Since, BLW is cheap and classified as a renewable resource, it becomes very attractive as a carbon source for PHAs production. Bacillus sonorensis and Halomonas hydrothermalis isolated from soil and marine sources were able to utilize biodiesel by-product to produce 71.8 and 75 wt% PHB, respectively (Shrivastava et al., 2010). Bacillus aryabhattai used 2% BLW as a carbon source to produce 72.3 wt% PHB (Chanasit et al., 2014). Burkholderia cepacia ATCC 17759 was successfully cultivated in a 200 L fermenter and yielded DCW and PHB concentration of 23.6 g/L and 7.4 g/L, respectively when using BLW as a carbon source (Zhu et al., 2010).

1.2 PHAs production by Pseudomonas mendocina PSU

Pseudomonas mendocina PSU that used BLW as a sole carbon source was isolated by Miss Wankuson Chanasit (Chanasit *et al.*, 2016) from biodiesel-contaminated sediment derived from the biodiesel ethyl ester pilot plant, the

specialized R & D center for alternative energy from palm oil and oil crops, Faculty of Engineering, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand. P. mendocina PSU's colony forms were flat, smooth, and brownish-yellow color on NR agar. This strain is an aerobic gram-negative rod shaped bacterium. P. mendocina PSU started to produce PHAs from the mid-log phase and reached the maximum value when the culture was in the stationary phase (Figure 12). This result is similar to Brevibacillus invocatus MTCC 9039 and Actinobacillus sp. EL-9 that the maximum accumulation of PHAs was observed at the stationary phase (Yu et al., 2002; Berezina, 2012). P. mendocina PSU produced 79.6 wt% PHB with DCW 3.77 g/L at 72 h when grown in MSM medium with 2% (v/v) BLW (Table 5). Many Pseudomonas species were reported as potential PHAs-producing bacteria. P. putida GPo1 previously known as P. oleovorans produced PHAs from different carbon sources such as alkanes and alkenes (De Smet et al., 1983; Preusting et al., 1993), carboxylic acids (Brandl et al., 1988), alcohols (Haywood et al., 1989) and plant oils (Silva-Queiroz et al., 2009). P. extorquens and P.aeruginosa used alcohol and fatty acids to produce PHAs (Haywood et al., 1989). Pseudomonas sp. strain NCIMB 40135 used carbohydrates as carbon sources (Haywood et al., 1990). In this study, P. mendocina PSU used BLW which is a cheap carbon source to produce high PHB content. This strain used glycerol, free fatty acids and fatty acid methyl ester in BLW to support its growth and PHAs production (Chanasit et al., 2016). When BLW was used as a carbon source, PHAs production cost was reduced and the waste disposal problem was minimized.





with 2% BLW

Table 5 Biosynthesis of PHB in P. mendocina PSU when grown in MSM

Time (h)	%PHB/DCW	DCW (g/L)
0	nd*	Nd
12	nd	Nd
24	62.12 ± 2.17	1.96 ± 0.04
36	69.49 ± 1.13	2.43 ± 0.09
48	74.14 ± 1.98	3.60 ± 0.23
60	72.88 ± 0.18	3.71 ± 0.19
72	79.63 ± 0.89	3.77 ± 0.34

with 2% BLW

*Not detected; MSM, Mineral Salts Medium; PHB, poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)

1.2.1 Monomer composition of PHAs from P. mendocina PSU

The monomer composition of PHAs produced from *P. mendocina* PSU when grown with BLW was identified using gas chromatography (GC) analysis and the obtained chromatogram was compared with the PHB standard. Only the homopolymer PHB was accumulated and detected at retention time 2.82 by this strain (Figure 13). This material was confirmed by ¹H NMR. ¹H NMR spectrum demonstrated that the sample contained pure PHB. Three groups of signal characteristics of PHB were observed (Figure 14). The resonance observed at 1.22 and 1.24 ppm were responsible for methyl proton of HB side group, at 2.41-2.88 ppm were methylene protons of HB bulk structure and at 5.19-5.25 ppm were methine protons attached to an ester function. Monomer composition is based on different substrates that are specific to PHA polymerase. This enzyme is responsible for the assembly of PHA monomeric precursors [(R)-3-hydroxyacyl-CoAs] and the specialization of metabolic and regulatory networks in each species (Prieto et al., 2015). In this study, P. mendocina PSU utilized glycerol which was most preferred by this strain. Glycerol was converted to glyceroldehyde-3-phosphate followed by pyruvate and acetyl-CoA, a precursor for PHB biosynthesis through glycolysis and the pyruvate decarboxylation process (Figure 15). PHB biosynthesis presumably was catalyzed by enzyme β -ketothiolase (*phaA*), acetoacetyl-CoA reductase (*phaB*), and SCL-PHA synthase (*phbCPs*), respectively (Solaiman et al. 2000; Zhu et al. 2013).

The molecular weights of PHB samples were determined by gel permeation chromatography. The weight-average molecular weight (M_w) was 8.39 x 10⁴ and the number-average molecular weight (M_n) was 4.60 x 10⁴. Molecular weight of PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU was similar to PHB from *Pseudomonas* sp. strain NCIMB 40135 which produced low molecular weight PHB ($M_w = 1.43 \times 10^5$ and $M_n = 6.19 \times 10^4$) when glucose was used as a carbon source (Haywood *et al.*, 1990) and *Burkholderia cepacia* ATCC 17759 which produced low molecular weight PHB ($M_w = 1.73 \times 10^3$ and $M_n = 3.04 \times 10^3$) when xylose and glycerol were used as carbon sources (Zhu *et al.*, 2010). PHB produced from this strain has low molecular weight and is brittle. When the glycerol was used as carbon source, PHB chain was reduced. The polymerization step for PHB chain propagation was terminated by glycerol-end capping through the covalent esterification of glycerol to PHB in a chain terminating position. When glycerol concentration was increased, chain termination rate was high and resulted in short chain PHA (Ashby *et al.*, 2005).

In this study, we also isolated other bacteria that used BLW to produce high molecular weight PHA to compare the production of PHA with *P. mendocina* PSU.



Figure 13 GC analysis of the PHAs produced by *P. mendocina* PSU (A) standard PHB (B) PHB produced by *P. mendocina* PSU (pA: peak area)



Figure 14 ¹H NMR spectrum in CDCl₃ of PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU


Figure 15 Biosynthesis of PHAs from Glycerol (Zhu et al., 2013)

1.3 Isolation of PHAs-accumulating bacteria and production of PHAs using

BLW and palm oil as sole carbon source

1.3.1 Screening of PHAs-accumulating bacteria by the enrichment culture

technique

PHAs accumulating bacteria were obtained by the enrichment culture technique. Soil sample from Sirindhorn peat swamp forest was added to MSM containing 2% BLW or palm oil as the sole carbon source. Isolated colonies were primarily screened for the presence of granule inside the cell. The selected bacteria were further confirmed by checking for the accumulation of PHAs using GC analysis.

Approximately 95 isolates were obtained from the soil samples and only 12 isolates showed black spots inside the cells indicating the presence of PHAs granules. Strain SB01 and SB02 which showed big black spots inside the cells were chosen for further work (Figure 16B and 16D). SB01's colony was flat, smooth and white in color. SB02's colony was raised, smooth and yellow in color. Both strains were aerobic gram-negative rod-shaped bacteria (Figure 16A and 16C) and were able to use palm oils and BLW as carbon sources for growth.



Figure 16 Micrographs of PHB producing bacteria: (A) Gram staining of SB01 (B) Sudan black B staining of SB01 (C) Gram staining of SB02 (D) Sudan black B staining of SB02 when cultured in MSM with 2% BLW for 60 h

1.3.2 Growth of newly isolated SB01 and SB02 in the pre-culture medium

The growth profiles of the SB01 and SB02 were studied in pre-culture medium (Figure 17). The exponential growth phase of both strains were 2-24 h of

cultivation. The mid log phase presenting the highest growth rate were calculated. The mid log phase of SB01 and SB02 were 12 h and 14 h of cultivation, respectively.



Figure 17 Growth profiles of A) strain SB01 and B) strain SB02 when cultivated in NR medium at 35 °C and 150 rpm for 76 h

1.3.3 PHAs accumulation of SB01 and SB02 in MSM medium

The monomer composition and the PHAs produced from SB01 and SB02 when grown in MSM containing 2% BLW and 2% palm oil were identified using gas chromatography (GC) analysis and the obtained chromatogram was compared with the PHB standard. Only the homopolymer PHB was accumulated and detected by these 2 strains (Figure 18).



Figure 18 GC analysis of the PHAs produced by SB01 and SB02 (A) standard PHB (B) PHB produced by SB01 (C) PHB produced by SB02 (pA: peak area)

PHAs accumulation reached the maximum value during the exponential growth phase in MSM containing 2% BLW or 2% palm oil. SB01 accumulated 91.98 wt% PHB at 78 h when grown in MSM medium with 2 % (v/v) BLW. This strain accumulated 87.50 wt% PHB at 84 h when grown in MSM medium with 2 % palm oil. SB02 accumulated 94.41 wt% PHB at 60 h when grown in MSM medium with 2 % (v/v) BLW. This strain accumulated 96.60 wt% PHB at 84 h when grown in MSM medium with 2 % palm oil (Table 6). The PHB productivity from different carbon source was not much different. BLW which is a cheap carbon source was selected for futhur studied. Two strains produced higher PHB contents when compared with Bacillus aryabhattai (72.31 wt% PHB) (Chanasit et al., 2014) and P. mendocina PSU (77 wt% PHB) (Chanasit et al., 2016) using BLW as carbon source. SB01 started to produce PHB during the period of the exponential growth phase. This strain was similar to Burkholderia sp. USM that the accumulation of PHB increased during the exponential growth phase when cultured in MSM containing crude palm kernel oil (Chee et al., 2010). These results clearly showed that BLW, a cheap renewable source and a biodiesel by-product, is a very attractive and an economically feasible carbon source for the production of PHB. In addition, molecular weight of PHB from 2 strains that produced at different times was measured. These two strains produced high molecular weight PHB. M_w and M_n of SB01 were 2.3 x 10⁵ and 1.3 x 10⁵, respectively when cultured in MSM with BLW at 60 h. M_w and M_n of SB01 were 2.8 x 10^5 and 2.1 x 10^5 , respectively when cultured in MSM with palm oil at 78 h. M_w and M_n of SB02 were 2.5 x 10⁵ and 2.0 x 10⁵, respectively when cultured in MSM with BLW at 60 h. M_w and M_n of SB02 were 7.9 x 10⁵ and 4.3 x 10⁵, respectively when cultured in MSM with palm oil at 54 h. Molecular weights of PHB produced from palm oil were higher than those obtained from BLW. Two strains utilized glycerol in BLW as major carbon source. Glycerol can enter to the active site of the PHA synthase and terminates the extention of the PHA polymer resulting in production of low molecular weight PHAs. These 2 strains produced PHB with high molecular weight using simple and low-cost carbon sources leading to a possible cheaper production of a more flexible biopolymer.

	SB01							SB02					
Time (h)	%PHB/ DCW (BLW)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/ DCW (Palm oil)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/ DCW (BLW)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/DCW (Palm oil)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	
6	-	0.21 ± 0.02	-	16.76 ± 1.02	0.75 ± 0.01	0.02	21.58 ± 1.16	0.55 ± 0.03	0.02	-	0.30 ± 0.01		
12	-	0.33 ± 0.04	-	18.39 ± 3.77	1.02 ± 0.04	0.02	45.52 ± 4.43	0.98 ± 0.19	0.04	45.74 ± 2.11	0.77 ± 0.13	0.03	
18	28.50 ± 2.97	1.11 ± 0.01	0.02	26.94 ± 1.63	1.35 ± 0.06	0.02	64.85 ± 2.79	1.12 ± 0.08	0.04	62.25 ± 9.97	1.23 ± 0.09	0.04	
24	30.33 ± 3.23	1.48 ± 0.07	0.02	37.15 ± 0.38	1.52 ± 0.12	0.02	65.78 ± 4.19	1.46 ± 0.14	0.04	65.03 ± 4.12	1.55 ± 0.17	0.04	
30	42.18 ± 1.30	1.63 ± 0.08	0.02	36.95 ± 2.78	1.61 ± 0.05	0.02	70.80 ± 3.70	1.60 ± 0.12	0.04	57.40 ± 3.56	1.74 ± 0.04	0.03	
36	42.55 ± 5.77	1.78 ± 0.11	0.02	64.90 ± 6.06	1.63 ± 0.19	0.03	76.05 ± 1.59	1.84 ± 0.39	0.04	76.05 ± 6.04	1.92 ± 0.11	0.04	
42	52.58 ± 3.37	1.95 ± 0.20	0.02	38.71 ± 3.33	2.03 ± 0.06	0.02	65.13 ± 2.53	1.81 ± 0.17	0.03	68.87 ± 2.44	2.01 ± 0.34	0.03	
48	66.23 ± 6.06	2.31 ± 0.15	0.03	32.68 ± 0.36	2.23 ± 0.12	0.02	66.98 ± 3.57	2.56 ± 0.12	0.04	71.43 ± 4.76	2.67 ± 0.23	0.04	

TABLE 6 Biosynthesis of PHB by SB01 and SB02 grown in MSM medium with BLW or palm oil, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h

TABLE 6 Biosynthesis of PHB by SB01 and SB02 grown in MSM medium with BLW or palm oil, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h

	SB01						SB02						
Time (h)	%PHB/ DCW (BLW)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/ DCW (Palm oil)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/ DCW (BLW)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	%PHB/DCW (Palm oil)	DCW (g/L)	Productivity (g/L/h)	
54	77.59 ± 4.77	2.61 ± 0.19	0.04	44.65 ± 1.42	2.75 ± 0.29	0.02	75.06 ± 6.70	2.22 ± 0.14	0.03	83.03 ± 6.55	3.11 ± 0.39	0.05	
60	84.88 ± 2.62	3.45 ± 0.14	0.05	48.93 ± 2.95	2.99 ± 0.18	0.02	94.41 ± 2.49	2.44 ± 0.29	0.04	63.61 ± 5.79	3.54 ± 0.07	0.04	
66	81.11 ± 0.43	3.97 ± 0.22	0.05	55.81 ± 3.14	3.68 ± 0.34	0.03	70.13 ± 2.03	2.77 ± 0.15	0.03	65.89 ± 2.45	4.03 ± 0.13	0.04	
72	72.22 ± 1.68	4.43 ± 0.27	0.04	62.38 ± 1.92	4.76 ± 0.17	0.04	66.10 ± 4.91	4.12 ± 0.04	0.04	69.07 ± 4.95	4.25 ± 0.47	0.04	
78	91.98 ± 1.01	4.89 ± 0.35	0.06	86.44 ± 2.55	5.02 ± 0.42	0.06	97.85 ± 5.71	4.02 ± 0.09	0.05	72.74 ± 7.24	4.78 ± 0.04	0.04	
84	90.17 ± 1.16	5.21 ± 0.24	0.06	87.50 ± 1.27	5.42 ± 0.31	0.06	89.25 ± 3.37	4.65 ± 0.10	0.05	96.60 ±0.92	5.01 ± 0.29	0.06	
90	86.80 ± 6.05	7.89 ± 0.19	0.08	82.11 ± 2.28	7.82 ± 0.25	0.07	75.13 ± 3.35	5.55 ± 0.59	0.05	84.76 ± 3.12	6.11 ± 0.13	0.06	
96	90.40 ± 4.07	8.34 ± 0.44	0.08	83.44 ± 3.21	8.90 ± 0.38	0.08	80.01 ± 8.82	6.55 ± 0.30	0.05	81.19 ± 4.97	6.58 ± 0.35	0.06	

(cont.)

1.3.4 Identification of the SB01 and SB02 strains

16s rRNA gene sequence analysis was performed to identify and classify the PHAs-producing bacteria, SB01 and SB02. Genomic DNA was extracted and amplified the full length of the 16S rRNA gene. The 1500 bp PCR product of the 16s rRNA gene was identified (Miller et al., 2013). Nucleotide sequences were analyzed using NCBI database and phylogenetic tree analysis. SB01 and SB02 were identified as Burkholderia seminalis and Burkholderia contaninans, respectively (Figure 19). Other study showed that Burkholderia contaminans has a class I PHA synthase that produces polyhydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxydodecanoate copolymer when sucrose or glucose was used as a carbon source. This strain produced high molecular weight copolymer which has elastomeric properties (Matias et al., 2017). Class I PHA synthases are composed of one subunit enzyme, PhaC. It is the key enzymes of PHA biosynthesis. It catalyze the polymerization of hydroxyalkanoic acids into PHA. Class I PHA synthases accept SCL-HA-CoAs for polymerization (Schubert et al., 1988). Class I PHA synthases was found in Ralstonia eutropha, Alcaligenes latus, Burkholderia cepacia, Burkholderia pseudomallei and Rhodopseudomonas palustris (Rehm and Steinbüchel, 2005). Other Burkholderia sp. that produced PHA such as Burkholderia cepacia ATCC 17759 produced 81.9 wt% PHB when glycerol was used as the carbon substrate (Zhu et al., 2010). Burkholderia sacchari IPT101 produced 68 wt% PHB when sucrose was used as the carbon source and produced 65 wt% PHBV content when glucose and propionic acid were provided as carbon sources (Brämer et al., 2001). However, Burkholderia seminalis and Burkholderia contaninans are members of the Burkholderia cepacia complex (BCC) that are human and animal pathogens (Vanlaere et al., 2008; Vanlaere et al., 2009). BCC organisms are opportunistic pathogenic bacteria that spread to patients with cystic fibrosis and cause serious epidemic outbreaks. The risks associated with agricultural uses of BCC strains remain unclear. The pathogenic mechanisms are needed to study before using Burkholderia genus in the large-scale (Jones et al., 2004; Drevinek et al., 2010; Sousa et al., 2011). So, Pseudomonas mendocina PSU was therefore selected for further study.



FIGURE 19 A phylogenetic tree of SB01 and SB02 related to other species of *Burkholderia* based on aligned sequences of the 16s rRNA gene. *Caballeronia concitans* LMG 29315 was used as an out-group

3. PHBV production by *P. mendocina* PSU

PHAs are thermoplastic and elastomeric materials. About 150 different monomers have been identified as PHAs constituents. Since mechanical and thermal properties of different monomer compositions, PHAs could be used for different applications (Silva-Queiroz et al., 2009). Since hydroxyvalerate (HV) monomer has a longer side chain than HB monomer, increasing amount of HV content of the PHA copolymers showed higher molecular weight, higher toughness and higher flexibility than PHB resulting in better morphology and properties (Aramvash et al., 2016; Jost et al., 2017). Impact resistance, toughness and biopolymer flexibility are increased when HV content is increased. Increasing of HV which has longer side chain reduces PHB crystallinity, the biopolymer is more like the conventional plastics. Decreasing of HV content causes stiffness and brittleness to the biopolymer like polystyrene (Antipov et al., 2006). Sodium propionate acts as a precursor for the incorporation of 3HV units into PHB backbone for PHBV production. BLW with 0.3% (w/v) sodium propionate was used for PHBV production. The monomer composition and PHAs content produced from P. mendocina PSU when grown in MSM containing 2% BLW and 0.3% (w/v) sodium propionate was identified using GC analysis and the obtained

57

chromatogram was compared with the PHBV standard. Both PHB and PHV were detected (Figure 20). The maximum PHBV accumulation was reached at stationary phase of culture. This strain accumulated 43.5 wt% PHBV with 8.6 mol% HV at 60 h (Table 7). Propionic acid is the most widely used precursor substrate for PHBV biosynthesis. This substrat is converted to propionyl-CoA. Moreover, propionic acid is catabolized to pyruvic acid and succinyl-CoA, which are intermediates for TCA cycle (Steinbüchel and Lutke-Eversloh, 2003). This study showed relatively high PHBV production when compared with other Pseudomonas sp. Haywood et al. (1989) found that *Pseudomonas* sp. 28D used methanol and valerate to produce 11 wt% PHBV . P. oleovorans used glucose and valerate to produce 2 wt% PHBV. P. extorquens used methanol and valerate to produce 5 wt% PHBV. P. extorquens used methanol and propionate to produce 26 wt% PHBV (Haywood et al., 1989). Kang et al. (2001) found that Pseudomonas sp. DSY-82 produced 42 wt% PHBV with 2 mol% HV when nonanoate and valerate were used as carbon sources. Pseudomonas sp. DSY-82 produced PHBV 29 % PHBV content with 3 mol% HV when 10undecanoate and valerate were used as carbon sources.



Figure 20 GC analysis of the PHA produced by *P. mendocina* PSU (A) standard PHBV (B) PHBV produced by *P. mendocina* PSU (pA: peak area)

Time (h)	MSM with 2% b and 0.3% soo	DCW (g/L)	
	% PHBV/DCW	3HV mol %	
0	nd*	nd	Nd
12	nd	nd	Nd
24	2.45 ± 0.03	nd	1.47 ± 0.12
36	2.91 ± 0.11	nd	1.48 ± 0.09
48	11.16 ± 0.35	7.52 ± 0.14	2.13 ± 0.14
60	43.58 ± 0.44	8.62 ± 0.59	2.17 ± 0.21
72	27.69 ± 0.07	8.36 ± 0.71	2.16 ± 0.11

Table 7 Biosynthesis of PHBV of P. mendocina PSU grown in MSM with 2% BLW

and 0.3% sodium propionate

*Not detected; MSM, Mineral Salts Medium; PHB, poly(3-hydroxybutyrate)



Figure 21¹³C NMR spectra in CDCl₃ of PHBV extracted by chloroform extraction

Figure 21 shows the ¹³C NMR spectra of PHA confirming PHBV production. These spectra demonstrated that the sample contains copolymer with two monomeric units of HB and HV, P(HB-*co*-HV). The chemical shifts were assigned for each carbon resonance signals according to data reported for the PHBV obtained from mixed microbial cultures grown in MSM with propionate. C₁ (169.07 ppm), C₂ (67.52 ppm), C₃ (40.69 ppm), C₄ (19.68 ppm), C₅ (9 ppm), C₆ (38 ppm) and C₇ (27 ppm) chemical shifts were the same chemical shift signals for PHBV monomers that showed in Table 8.

Table 8 Chemical shift signals (in ppm) from ¹³C NMR spectra of PHBV copolymer(Kemavongse *et al.*, 2008).

D 141		Chemical shift signals
Position	Carbon atom	(in ppm)
C ₁	C=O (HB)	169
	C=O (HB)	
C ₂	CH (HB)	72
C ₃	CH ₂ (HB)	40
C ₄	CH ₃ (HB)	19.66
C ₅	CH ₃ (HV)	9
C ₆	CH ₂ (HV)	38
C ₇	CH ₂ (HV)	27

3.1 Effect of sodium propionate concentrations on PHBV production by *Pseudomonas* sp. PSU

The effect of sodium propionate concentrations with 2% BLW on PHBV production was determined. Sodium propionate at 4 different concentrations (0.1, 0.3, 0.5, and 0.7%) was investigated. Figure 22 showed that at 96 h, cell biomass (3.88 g/L) and PHBV content (48.1%) were the highest when 0.1% propionate was added (Table 9). However, HV mol% in this condition was only 4%. 0.3% propionate was considered as the suitable concentration because cell biomass was 3.04 g/L, PHBV

content was 25.6 % and HV mol% was 10 at 72 h. This result might be due to the toxic of sodium propionate that decreased microbial cells growth but supported HV monomer production (Annuar *et al.*, 2008). This result showed that *P. mendocina* PSU can use sodium propionate as a precursor to produce PHBV. However, PHBV production was still low therefore the effect of nitrogen sources was also investigated to improve the production.



Figure 22 Growth of *P. mendocina* PSU when cultivated in MSM with 2% biodiesel liquid waste and various concentrations of sodium propionate, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h

Time (b)	0.1% sodium p	0.1% sodium propionate		0.3% sodium propionate		ropionate	0.7% sodium propionate	
Time (ii)	%PHBV/DCW 3HV mol%		%PHBV/DCW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/DCW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/DCW	3HV mol%
0	*nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
12	Nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
24	11.56±1.14	0	2.88 ± 0.12	0	1.76 ± 0.09	0	1.63 ± 0.12	0
36	18.61±0.98	0	5.12 ± 0.07	0	1.12 ± 0.07	0	1.22 ± 0.22	0
48	27.24±1.17	6.16 ± 0.12	9.06 ± 0.44	11.74 ± 0.31	4.28 ± 0.35	0	1.54 ± 0.87	0
60	34.04±0.83	5.86 ± 0.11	17.06 ± 0.04	9.69 ± 0.23	7.65 ± 0.42	12.64 ± 1.71	6.24 ± 1.81	0
72	35.61±0.52	5.88 ± 1.16	25.63 ± 0.57	10.09 ± 0.12	14.66 ± 0.77	11.93 ± 0.29	9.18 ± 1.18	0
84	35.11±1.95	5.14 ± 0.27	28.58 ± 0.09	9.71 ± 0.23	18.73 ± 0.42	12.55 ± 0.56	22.19 ± 1.38	11.24 ± 1.24
96	48.14±1.02	4.64 ± 0.06	36.23 ± 0.06	8.95 ± 0.19	24.43 ± 0.01	12.96 ± 0.09	22.51 ± 1.71	11.03±1.10

Table 9 Biosynthesis of PHBV by *P. mendocina* PSU grown in MSM medium with 2% BLW and various sodium propionate concentrations, incubated at 35 °C, 150 rpm for 96 h

*nd = Not detected

Time	Ammoniun 0.5 g/L (C/I	n sulphate N = 76.19)	Ammoniun 1.0 g/L (C/	n sulphate N = 38.09)	Ammoniu 1.5 g/L (C/	m sulphate /N = 25.40)	Urea 0.2 (C/N =	23 g/L : 80)	Urea 0. (C/N	.45 g/L = 40)	Urea 0. (C/N =	.68 g/L 26.67)
(h)	%PHBV/D CW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/D CW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/D CW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/DC W	3HV mol%	%PHBV/D CW	3HV mol%	%PHBV/ DCW	3HV mol%
0	*nd	Nd	nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
12	nd	Nd	nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	Nd	nd	nd	nd	nd
24	7.12±0.54	0	7.59±0.66	0	7.20±1.18	0	11.20±0.63	0	11.78±0.07	0	13.22±0.76	0
36	12.80±0.45	9.68±0.56	13.80±0.95	6.96±0.34	8.78±0.99	0	16.17±0.63	5.43±1.84	15.78±1.49	0	16.28±0.78	2.06±0.01
48	19.25±0.53	9.87±0.62	28.08±1.12	6.59±0.45	22.42±0.96	5.66±1.22	26.54±1.10	5.60±1.02	20.33±1.01	0	26.48±1.05	4.13±0.12
60	34.51±1.77	11.80± 0.85	33.32±1.88	6.86±0.52	35.95±1.54	7.14±0.27	33.43±2.14	8.40±1.10	27.48±1.33	2.49±1.70	30.62±2.01	3.61±0.56
72	38.55±1.41	12.58±0.37	41.97±1.56	7.30±0.11	36.91±2.62	7.18±0.19	33.55±0.98	8.91±0.02	36.61±2.29	4.71±0.27	48.72±1.88	3.40±0.32
84	47.28±1.81	9.79±0.78	34.72±1.02	7.19±0.42	33.34±0.69	6.57±0.10	36.69±0.75	6.38±2.93	37.76±0.69	6.28±1.67	52.18±2.11	3.38±0.17
96	38.53±0.93	8.21±0.45	28.57±0.88	6.89±0.62	32.77±1.54	6.32±0.08	36.61±1.65	5.14±0.03	54.55±2.13	6.50±0.10	59.55±0.98	3.21±0.95

Table 10 Biosynthesis of PHBV by P. mendocina PSU grown in MSM media supplemented with 2% BLW and 0.3 % sodium propionate

with different nitrogen sources, incubated at 35 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ for 96 h

*nd = Not detected

2.2 Effect of nitrogen content on PHBV production by P. mendocina PSU

One of the main factors that affects the production of PHAs is nitrogen source. Nitrogen limitation boosted PHB accumulation in bacteria (Bluhm et al., 1986; Gunel et al., 2013; Kosseva et al., 2018). The effect of urea and ammonium sulfate concentration in MSM medium were investigated. Table 10 shows the effect of nitrogen contents on PHBV production. The highest PHBV production was obtained when P. mendocina PSU was cultured in MSM medium with 0.5 g/L ammonium sulphate. At 72 h, this strain produced 38.6 wt% PHBV with 12.6 mol% HV. PHBV content and mol% HV increased when nitrogen content was optimized. Increasing nitrogen concentration would benefit the growth but inhibit PHB accumulation therefore the lowest concentration of ammonium sulfate used in this study (0.5 g/L) was the optimum concentration for PHBV production. High PHBV production when using ammonium sulfate as nitrogen source may be due to the uptake of ammonium at a high rate in the presence of sulfate anion (Belal et al., 2013; Nunes et al., 2017). Moreover, the presence of inorganic chemicals such as ammonia supports the growth phase of bacteria (Gomaa, 2014). Another important factor that effects the biosynthesis of PHAs is the ratio of carbon to nitrogen (C/N) because the accumulation of acetyl-CoA is determined by the amount of nitrogen present in the medium (Du et al., 2001). A C/N ratio 20-40 has been widely used for the biosynthesis of PHAs. P. mendocina strain 0806 was grownin media containing 20 g/L glucose and various concentrations of ammonium sulfate. The highest biomass and PHA content were synthesized when C/N ratio was 40 after 48 h of cultivation (Tian et al., 2000; Amirul et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2008). In this study, C/N ratio affected PHBV production in term of increasing mol% HV when C/N ratio was increased to 76. The optimum condition that used to produce PHBV is 0.3% sodium propionate with 0.5 g/L ammonium sulphate. P. mendocina PSU produced 38.6 wt%PHBV with 12.6 mol% HV.

3. PHA recovery

3.1 Chemical recovery of PHAs by chloroform extraction

Normally, PHA extraction processes are performed by using organic solvents such as chloroform. Ten grams of biomass from P. mendocina PSU that cultured in MSM containing 2% BLW producing PHB and MSM containing 2% BLW and 0.3% sodium propionate producing PHBV were extracted with chloroform. Cell debris were removed and PHAs solution was concentrated by rotary evaporation to a final volume of approximately 100 mL. PHAs were purified by precipitation with a cold methanol solution. PHA which extracted from chloroform extraction has white color (Figure 23). The purity of PHB from P. mendocina PSU was 90.89% with % yield of 66.46. M_w was 8.39 x 10⁴ and M_n was 4.60 x 10⁴. The purity of PHBV from P. mendocina PSU was 90.5% with % yield of 55.83. M_w was 1.07 x 10⁵ and M_n was 6.68 x 10⁴. The roles of solvents in extracting PHAs granules from the biomass are to change the permeability of cell membrane and to dissolve the polymer inside the cells. Chloroform is the best organic solvents for PHA extraction because this method provides the highest solubility of PHAs. However, chloroform is quite harmful to handle, and has serious impacts on human health and highly toxic to the environment (Yabueng and Napathorn, 2018). Moreover, the high amount of solvent used in this method leads to high cost of PHAs production. The recovery and purification of PHAs are known to contribute significantly to the costs of the polymers. Various studies have been performed to improve the process such as surfactant-based extraction (Yazdi, 2010) and low frequency sonic waves extraction (Murugesan and Iyyaswami, 2017). Murugan et al. (2016) used the biological extraction method by using mealworm to extract PHAs from *Cupriavidus necator* and found that purity and

properties of PHAs were similar to chloroform extraction. Biological extraction method was therefore used in this study to reduce the cost and save the environment.



Figure 23 PHB recovery from *P. mendocina* PSU cells using chloroform

extraction

3.2 Biological recovery of PHAs by mealworms

P. mendocina PSU cells cultivated in MSM medium containing 2% BLW were dried at 60 °C. Ten grams of dried *P. mendocina* PSU cells were consumed by 200 g of mealworms in 5 days. Mealworms consumed about 1 wt% cells pellet of their body weight every day and excreted brown fecal pellets that contained PHA granules. After that, fecal pellets were washed with 1% SDS solution. The purity of PHB from biological extraction was 88.2% with %yield of 43.20. M_w was 7.30 x 10⁴ and M_n was 1.46 x 10⁵. The purity of PHBV from biological extraction was 89.4% with %yield 37.0. M_w was 1.60 x 10⁵ and M_n was 1.33 x 10⁵. However, the color of PHAs granules from biological method in this study was light brown with odor because small amounts of protein were still present (Figure 24). Major proteins that contained in PHAs sample were acetyl-CoA acetyltransferase and phasin from bacterial cells and alpha amylase and larvalcuticle protein from mealworm (Murugan *et al.*, 2016). Proteins content in PHAs that extracted by chloroform exteaction was

lower than biological extraction because this material not obtained protein from mealworm. In addition, PHAs were futher purified by precipitate with cold methanol. (Yabueng and Napathorn, 2018). The purity of those two extraction method was not much different. Percent yield of biologically extracted PHAs was lower than that of chloroform extraction. This might be due to more losses of fecal pellets during the PHAs pellets recovery process. The M_w and M_n of PHB from biological extraction were much higher than those from chloroform extraction (Table 11). However, polydispersity index of the biologically extracted PHBV and PHB was less than those of chloroform extraction. In addition, the melting temperature (T_m) of PHAs from the biological extraction and chloroform extraction were similar. However, this biological method uses much less chemicals and solvents. Recently, biological extraction has been used as the alternative efficient method and the M_w and M_n of extracted PHAs were higher. Mealworm has been recently reported for their ability to degrade polystyrene (PS) and two PS-degrading bacterial strains were isolated from the mealworm gut (Jung et al., 2014). The remarkable findings of the ability of mealworm in extracting PHAs granules has led to this study. It is interesting to note that biological recovery can extract many kinds of PHAs from many kinds of microorganisms and does not affect the properties of the polymers (Murugan et al., 2016; Ong et al., 2018). This study confirmed the ability of using mealworm in PHAs extraction from Pseudomonas sp. and supported the results of Murugan (Murugan et al., 2016) that the mealworm does not cause any molecular degradation to PHAs polymers. PHAs purity was also high (89%) and thermal property (T_m) did not change when compared with chemical-extracted PHAs. Moreover, this method does not require high amount of organic solvents and heat.



Figure 24 Biological recovery process of PHAs from *P. mendocina* PSU cells using mealworms. (A) Mealworms feeding on dried *P. mendocina* PSU cells (B) Mealworms and fecal pellets after almost complete feeding on cells (C) Fecal pellets before washing and further purification (D) Fecal pellets containing PHB after being purified by 1% SDS

Sample	M_n	M_w	Polydispersity	% yield	%purity	$\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{m}}(\mathbf{C})$
PHB	$4.60 \ge 10^4$	8.39×10^4	1.83 ± 0.01	66.46 ± 2.11	90.89 ± 0.91	172.00
(chloroform						
extraction)						
PHB (Biological	$7.30 \ge 10^4$	$1.46 \ge 10^5$	1.72 ± 0.09	55.83 ± 1.53	88.23 ± 0.47	173.52
extraction)						
PHBV	$6.68 \ge 10^4$	$1.07 \ge 10^5$	1.61 ± 0.08	43.20 ± 1.15	90.53 ± 0.50	170.64
(chloroform						
extraction)						
PHBV	1.33×10^5	$1.60 \ge 10^5$	1.20 ± 0.03	37.00 ± 1.81	89.43 ± 0.88	170.35
(Biological						
extraction)						

 Table 11 Properties of PHAs from P. mendocina PSU that extracted by biological recovery and chloroform extraction methods.

The biological extraction method was also performed with Burkholderia sp. SB01 and Burkholderia sp. SB02 which can produce high molecular weight PHB. The molecular weight of PHB that extracted by biological extraction and chloroform extraction were also not much different. The highest M_w and M_n of Burkholderia sp. SB01 were 2.9 x 10^5 and 2.6 x 10^5 when cultured in MSM with BLW at 60 h and extracted by biological extraction. The highest M_w and M_n of Burkholderia sp. SB02 were 4.6 x 10^5 and 9.7 x 10^5 when cultured in MSM with palm oil at 54 h and extracted by biological extraction (Table 12). M_w and M_n of PHB that produce with different culture time were different. When culture time is increased, the bacteria are stressed under carbon starvation conditions leading to intracellular degradation of PHAs. PHA granules are internally hydrolyzed by intracellular PHA depolymerases that are produced by the bacteria themselves. The degraded products can be directly utilized as a carbon or energy source for cell regeneration and cell maintenance (Khanna and Srivastava, 2005). It is interesting that mealworm can extract many kinds of PHAs from many kinds of microorganisms and does not affect the properties of the polymers.

Strains	Time (h)	Carbon source	Extraction Method	M_n	M _w	D	Produc- tivity (g/L/h)	wt% PHB	DCW (g/L)
	18	BLW	Chloroform extraction	2.2 x 10 ⁵	3.1 x 10 ⁵	1.39	0.03	66.23	2 21
	40	BLW	Biological extraction	2.7 x 10 ⁵	4.6 x 10 ⁵	1.74	0.03	00.23	2.51
	60	BLW	Chloroform extraction	1.3 x 10 ⁵	2.3 x 10 ⁵	1.64	0.05	84 44	3 45
	00	BLW	Biological extraction	2.6 x 10 ⁵	2.9 x 10 ⁵	1.63	0.05	04.44	5.45
Burkholderia	36	Palm oil	Chloroform extraction	2.3 x 10 ⁵	3.1 x 10 ⁵	1.38	0.03	64.90	1.63
sp. SB01	50	Palm oil	Biological extraction	2.6 x 10 ⁵	2.1 x 10 ⁵	2.40	0.03	04.90	1.05
	78	Palm oil	Chloroform extraction	2.1 x 10 ⁵	2.8 x 10 ⁵	1.33	0.06	86.44	5.02
	78	Palm oil	Biological extraction	2.9 x 10 ⁵	5.4 x 10 ⁵	1.85	0.00	00.11	5.02
	30	BLW	Chloroform extraction	2.6 x 10 ⁵	3.6 x 10 ⁵	1.39	0.04	70.8	1.60
	50	BLW	Biological extraction	2.1 x 10 ⁵	3.2 x 10 ⁵	1.52	0.04		1.00
	60	BLW	Chloroform extraction	2.0 x 10 ⁵	2.5 x 10 ⁵	1.51	0.04	94.41	2 14
	00	BLW	Biological extraction	2.0 x 10 ⁵	2.6 x 10 ⁵	1.34	0.04	74.41	2.77
Burkholderia	36	Palm oil	Chloroform extraction	6.0 x 10 ⁵	1.5 x 10 ⁶	2.47	0.04	76.05	1 92
sp. SB02	50	Palm oil	Biological extraction	4.6 x 10 ⁵	9.3 x 10 ⁵	2.03	0.04	70.05	1.92
	54	Palm oil	Chloroform extraction	4.3 x 10 ⁵	7.9 x 10 ⁵	1.83	0.05	82.03	3 1 1
	54	Palm oil	Biological extraction	4.6 x 10 ⁵	9.7 x 10 ⁵	2.12	0.05	02.05	5.11
	72	BIW	Chloroform extraction	4.60 x 10 ⁴	8.39 x 10 ⁴	1.83	0.04	79.6	3 77
р	12	DLW	Biological extraction	7.30 x 10 ⁴	1.46 x 10 ⁵	1.72	0.04	77.0	5.11
mendocina PSU	72	BLW+ sodium	Chloroform extraction	6.68 x 10 ⁴	1.07 x 10 ⁵	1.61	0.02	38.6	3 04
150	12	propion ate	Biological extraction	$1.33 \ge 10^5$	$1.60 \ge 10^5$	1.20	0.02	50.0	5.04

Table 12 Properties of PHAs obtained from biological recovery and chloroformextraction methods.

 M_w = weight average molecular weight, M_n = number average molecular weight, D = polydispersity index

4. Preparation of PHB-rubber blends

Polymers blending is another possible method to prepare biodegradable materials with useful mechanical properties (Hazer and Steinbüchel, 2007). The compatibility of two polymers depended on viscosity, molecular weight, and molecular structure (Niaounakis, 2015). Natural rubbers are another type of polymers which are elastomeric in nature and biodegradable. Several species of bacteria and fungi can degrade rubber (Rose and Steinbüchel, 2005). The incorporation of rubber particles into a brittle thermoplastic matrix has been known to improve the toughness and impact properties of the polymer (Paruleka et al., 2005). Different rubbers (NR, ENR25 and ENR50) were blended with PHB from P. mendocina PSU to reduce crystallinity of PHB (Bhatt et al., 2008). PHB produced from P. mendocina PSU was improved by blending with natural rubber. However, it was almost impossible to produce PHB-natural rubber blend because viscosity, molecular weight and molecular structure of natural rubber were much different from PHB (Paruleka et al., 2005). The molecular weight and viscosity of rubbers were reduced by grinding with two roll mill and ENR which have epoxy groups on the backbone chains were used in this study. The most common techniques to blend polymers are solution blending and melt blending (Bhatt et al., 2008). Three different methods were used to blend PHB and natural rubber as followes:

4.1 Blending by solution blending

Solution blending is a rapid mixing process without large energy consumption and chemical reactions. For this method, it is necessary to find a simple solvent for the blend components and to remove organic solvent. Three kinds of rubbers including natural rubber (NR), epoxidized natural rubber 50 (ENR50) and epoxidized natural rubber 25 (ENR25) were chosen to mix with PHB by solution blending. PHB was dissolved in chloroform. Then, each kind of rubbers was added and stirred. ENR50 could not dissolve in chloroform, thus it could not mix with PHB. PHB was immiscible with modified NR. PHB mixed well with modified ENR25. Therefore, PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber in the ratio of 70:30. After stirring PHB and ENR25 for 12 h, the polymers blend in chloroform solution was poured into a petri dish. Solvent was removed by vacuum oven. The polymers blend obtained from this method is shown in Figure 25. This polymers blend was brittle and surface of the polymer was rough. PHB was still partially miscible with modified ENR25. This result was different from Bhatt *et al.* (2008) that used solution blending and successfully produced polymer blend of mcL-PHA produced by *Comamonas testosteroni* and natural rubber. It might be due to PHA structure that produced from different strain and carbon source. Molecular weight and viscosity of mcl-PHA is higher than scl-PHAs in this studied. So, mcl-PHA was mix well with natural rubber (Bhatt *et al.*, 2008).



Figure 25 PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30) by solution Blending (chloroform)

4.2 Blending by melt mixing (internal mixture)

Melt mixing is the most comprehensive method of polymer blend. The blend components are mixed in the molten state in batch mixers or extruders. Advantages of the method are well-defined components and acceptance of mixing devices. Disadvantages of this method are high energy consumption and possible unfavorable chemical changes of blend components. Internal mixers are general purpose machines which is able to mix a wide range of rubber compounds without any change to the machine geometry needed. PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber in the ratio 70:30 by internal mixture at 170 °C, 60 rpm for 10 min. The maximum temperature of this machine was 170 °C but the melting temperature of PHB was 173 °C. Eventhough, PHB could mix with ENR25, some part of PHB did not melt as shown in Figure 26.



Figure 26 PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30) by internal mixture

4.3 Blending by melt mixing (twin screw extrusion)

Twin screw extrusion is one of the melt mixing equipments. It is used extensively for mixing, compounding, or reacting polymeric materials. The flexibility of twin screw extrusion equipment allows this operation to be designed specifically for the formulation being processed. For example, the two screws may rotate in the same direction (co-rotating) or opposite direction (counter-rotating) and may be fully intermeshing, non intermeshing or partially intermeshing. In addition, the configurations of the screws themselves may be varied using forward conveying elements, reverse conveying elements, kneading blocks, and other designs in order to achieve particular mixing characteristics (White, 1991). PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber in the ratio 70: 30 by twin screw extrusion at 175°C, 150 rpm. PHB and ENR25 did not mix well (Figure 27), and the two phases of polymers were observed after compressed to polymers film (Figure 28).



Figure 27 PHB was blended with modified ENR25 rubber (70:30) by twin screw extrusion



Figure 28 Polymer blended film of PHB and modified ENR25 by twin screw extrusion

The incorporation of rubber particles into a PHB matrix is the way to improve the impact properties and the toughness of PHB. Unfortunately, PHB and ENR25 did not mix homogeneously by blending method so the properties of PHB could not be improved. Blending mechanism highly depends on the mechanical properties of two polymers, the dispersion of the modifier, the elastomeric modifier and the interfacial adhesion among the different phases. Molecular weight, mechanical properties and polarity of PHB and ENR25 were different. So, it was hard to make homogeneous polymers blend. The blend system can be recognized as binary immiscible blend of an elastic polymer and a brittle polymer. The effective properties of polymers blend are precepted by the continuous phase and properties of the continuous phase. The the elastomeric and plastic phases are different in their rheological properties. Hence, for the elastomeric phase to be continuous, a compatibilizer needs to be added to increase interfacial adhesion. The compatibilizer reduces the interfacial tension that is important for phase separation (Thompson and Matsen, 2000). So, these two polymers should be modified before blending or being compatibilized, which could improve the interfacial adhesion (Parulekar and Amar, 2006). In this study, solvent blending seems to be the suitable method for blending PHB and ENR25 since the two polymers mixed well. In addition, this method is rapid mixing process without large energy consumption and chemical reactions (Khan *et al.*, 2018). However, the polymer ratio could be changed to improve polymer properties.

5. Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films

5.1 Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the soil burial test

PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU (Figure 29a), PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU (Figure 29b), PHB from *B. contaminans* (Figure 29c), NR (Figure 29d), ENR25 (Figure 29e), rubber glove (Figure 29f), PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending (Figure 29g) and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending (Figure 29h) were cut into small pieces with the dimension of 1 cm x 1 cm. A plastic net was sewed to keep the films. Each square film was weighed and placed into the net. Samples were buried in the soil at the rubber plantation area (15 cm depth). The soil type at the buried location was clay loam, pH was 4.5-5 and the moisture content was 20-30% (This might be due to equipment errors). The biodegradation study was performed for 4 weeks during mid of May to mid of June 2019. Figure 29 shows physical changes on the PHAs and the blend films during the degradation period. The surface morphology of all films clearly showed the formation of edges and color changes. After 4 weeks, the degradation of all samples were measured based on the average weight loss of the films (Table 13). The weight loss of the PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU, PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU and rubber glove were 34.1%,

29.12% and 30.47%, respectively. PHAs films and rubber glove also serve as a carbon source for soil microbes which results in a rapid degradation of the films (Reddy et al., 2003). Weight loss of PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending were 5.20% and 3.93%. Blend film had lower degradation rate than PHAs film. The result was similar to PHAs-NR blend from other studies that used Pseudomonas sp. 202 to degrade the blend film (Bhatt et al., 2006). In comparison, the degradation rate of thicker film such as NR and ENR25 was low. It was harder for the microbes to attack the thicker films resulting in low rubber degradation rates. Rubber degradation rate was lower than PHAs so % weight loss of PHB-ENR25 blend films was lower than PHB (Rose and Steinbüchel, 2005). However, by mixing PHAs into rubber, the degradation of PHAs might enhance the degradation rate of rubber in PHB-ENR25 blend film (Bhatt et al., 2006). Weight loss of PHB from B. contaminans SB02 which has high molecular weight was 9.28%. Different biodegradation rates of PHAs were due to the various depolymerase enzymes secreted by the microbial population in environment (Ohura et al., 1999). Other environmental factors that could affect the degradation rate of PHAs films are type of soil, pH, moisture, temperature, nutrient supply and microbial activity. Moreover, the properties of PHAs such as composition, crystallinity, the presence of additives and surface area could also affect the degradation of PHAs (Jendrossek et al., 2002).



Figure 29 Physical changes on the PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU (a), PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU (b), PHB from *B. contaminans* SB02 (c), NR (d), ENR25 (e), rubber glove (f), PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending (g) and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending (h) after buried in the soil for 0 week (A), 2 weeks (B) and 4 weeks (C)

Sample	Time (weeks)	Weight loss (%)
DUP from P mandaging DSU	2	11.24 ± 0.08
FHB Holli F. menaocina FSO	4	34.10 ± 4.37
DUDV from <i>P</i> mandosing DSU	2	13.20 ± 3.45
	4	29.12 ± 2.61
DUD from P contaminant SP02	2	6.45 ± 0.03
FHB IIOIII B. contaminants SB02	4	9.28 ± 0.10
NID	2	2.45 ± 0.23
INK	4	2.78 ± 0.08
END25	2	0.77 ± 0.18
EINK25	4	4.68 ± 0.08
Bubber glove	2	16.37 ± 2.04
Rubber glove	4	30.47 ± 3.20
PHB-ENR25 blend films from	2	2.71 ± 0.28
solvent blending	4	5.20 ± 0.39
PHB-ENR25 blend films from	2	2.31 ± 0.06
melt blending	4	3.93 ± 0.83

Table 13 Weight loss of PHAs and the blend films from the soil burial test

5.2 Biodegradation studies of PHAs and the blend films by the rubber degrading bacterial consortium

PHB from P. mendocina (Figure 30a), PHBV from P. mendocina (Figure 30b), PHB from B. contaminans SB02 (Figure 30c), NR (Figure 30d), ENR25 (Figure 30e), rubber glove (Figure 30f), PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending (Figure 30g) and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending (Figure 30h) were cut into small pieces with the dimension of 1 cm x 1 cm. Each square film was weighed and used as a carbon source for the rubber degrading bacteria consortium. This bacterial consortium was grown in medium containing tested PHA, rubber and blend film. They presented evidence of adhesive growth by colonization on a surface and merging into PHB from B. contaminans SB02, NR, ENR25, rubber glove, PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending (Figure 30). Rubber degrading bacteria were enriched by using rubber glove as a carbon source. After 4 weeks, the weight loss of rubber glove was 75.92%. The degradation rate of thicker film such as NR and ENR25 was low. It was harder for the microbes to attack the thicker films resulting in low rubber degradation rates. The weight loss of ENR25 was 1.80%. The low degradation might be due to the structure of ENR25 or the release of toxic metabolites during the degradation. The weight loss of the PHB from P. mendocina PSU was 4.57%. The weight loss of PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending were 9.24 and 12.96%, respectively. The weight losses of all films in abiotic control were lower than 1% (Data not shown). The weight loss of blend film was higher than PHB and ENR25. PHB-ENR25 blend proved their degradation by the rubber degrading bacteria. The higher growth of degrading bacteria was obtained in the flasks containing PHB-ENR25 blend as can be observed by the heavy colonization on a surface of PHB-ENR25 blend. Microbial adhesion is a fascinating and imperative step in the process of microbial biodegradation of polymers. The hydrophobic interactions between materials and microorganisms are the extensive factors in the early stages of microbial adhesion (Klotz, 1990). The weight losses of the PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU and PHB from *B. contaminans* SB02M were 10.27% and 5.91%, respectively (Table 14). Different biodegradation rates of PHA were due to the various depolymerase enzymes secreted by the microbial population (Ohura *et al.*, 1999) and the properties of PHA such as crystallinity and composition (Jendrossek *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 30 Physical changes of PHB from *P. mendocina* PSU (a), PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU (b), PHB from *B. contaminans* SB02 (c), NR (d), ENR25 (e), rubber glove (f), PHB-ENR25 blend films from solvent blending (g) and PHB-ENR25 blend films from melt blending (h) after degraded by rubber degrading bacteria for abiotic control (A), 2 weeks (B) 4 weeks (C) and abiotic control

Sample	Time (weeks)	Weight loss (%)
PHB from <i>P. mendocina</i>	2	2.80 ± 0.24
PSU	4	4.57 ± 0.12
PHBV from P. mendocina	2	6.27 ± 0.01
PSU	4	10.27 ± 0.97
PHB from <i>B. contaminans</i>	2	4.25 ± 0.72
SB02	4	5.58 ± 0.05
ND	2	3.87 ± 0.06
INK	4	5.91 ± 0.95
ENID 25	2	1.34 ± 0.01
ENR25	4	1.80 ± 0.05
Bubber glove	2	55.98 ± 5.18
Kubbel glove	4	75.92 ± 3.06
PHB-ENR25 blend films	2	1.84 ± 0.32
from solvent blending	4	9.24 ± 0.81
PHB-ENR25 blend films	2	7.12 ± 0.92
from melt blending	4	12.96 ± 2.50

Table 14 Weight loss of PHAs and the blend films after degraded by the rubber

degrading bacterial consortium

PHB and PHBV from *P. mendocina* PSU is a good biomaterial because it is a biodegradable polymer that can be produced from low cost carbon sources and extraction method. Molecular weight, toughness and flexibility of PHB were low. The properties of this material should be improved for using in a wide application range. On the other hand, PHBV is thermoplastic polyester. This material is thermostable and can be melted and molded to form various shapes. The mechanical properties of PHBV are better than PHB. In addition, PHBV can act as bioplastic material for conductive bioplastics that used in high-tech electronic devices (Chanprateep, 2010). Incorporation of rubber particles into a brittle thermoplastic matrix is known to improve the toughness and the impact properties of the polymer. However, phase separation between PHAs and rubber should be improved. A compatibilizer might be needed to change chemical or physical interactions between two polymers. The mechanical properties of polymer blend may be improved.
CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSIONS

Three PHAs-producing bacteria were successfully used BLW, by-product from biodiesel production, as carbon source for PHB production. P. mendocina PSU was previously isolated from biodiesel-contaminated sediment. P.mendocina PSU produced 79.6 wt% PHB with DCW 3.77 g/L at 72 h when grown in MSM medium with 2% (v/v) BLW. PHB produced from this strain had low molecular weight and was brittle. Two other bacteria SB01 and SB02 that used BLW to produce high molecular weight PHB were also isolated. SB01 accumulated 91.98 wt% PHB at 78 h and SB02 accumulated 94.41 wt% PHB at 60 h when grown in MSM medium with 2 % (v/v) BLW. The two strains produced higher PHB contents and higher molecular weight PHB when compared with P. mendocina PSU. All results clearly showed that BLW, a cheap renewable source and a biodiesel by-product, was a very attractive and an economically feasible carbon source for the production of PHB. SB01 and SB02 were identified as Burkholderia seminalis and Burkholderia contaninans, respectively. These two strains are members of the Burkholderia cepacia complex (BCC) that are human and animal pathogens. Since the pathogenic mechanisms of these environmental isolates are still unclear, therefore, P. mendocina PSU was selected for further study.

P. mendocina PSU produced PHBV when sodium propionate, a precursor for PHBV production, was added. The maximum PHBV accumulation was 38.6 wt%

PHBV with 13 mol% HV when *P. mendocina* PSU was cultured in MSM containing 2% BLW, 0.3% (w/v) sodium propionate and 0.5 g/L ammonium sulphate for 72 h. This study showed higher PHBV production when compared with other *Pseudomonas* spp. The properties of PHBV were better than PHB because of higher molecular weight and lower melting temperature. Recovery processes of PHAs including the biological method using mealworms and the chemical extraction method using chloroform were investigated. M_w and M_n of PHAs from the biological method were higher than those from the chloroform extraction. T_m and the purity of PHAs were comparable. This study confirmed the ability of mealworms to extract PHAs from of bacterial cells. This method does not require high amount of organic solvents and heat.

In the attempt to improve the biodegradable materials with better mechanical properties, blending PHB with other polymers is a promising option. Natural rubbers are polymers which are elastomeric and biodegradable. However, viscosity, molecular weight, and molecular structure of natural rubber were much different from PHB. The molecular weight and viscosity of rubbers were reduced by grinding with two roll mill and ENR which contains epoxy groups on the backbone chains was used in this study. PHB and ENR25 were blended by solution blending and melt blending. Unfortunately, PHB and ENR25 did not mix homogeneously so the properties could not be improved. Blending mechanism highly depends on the mechanical properties of two polymers, the dispersion of the modifier, the elastomeric modifier and the interfacial adhesion among the different phases. A compatibilizer needs to be added to increase interfacial adhesion.

Biodegradation of all polymers from this study were investigated by the soil burial test and treating them with the cultures of rubber degrading bacteria. PHB and PHBV from *Pseudomonas mendocina* PSU and rubber glove had higher degradation rate than other materials when buried in the soil. Treating with the rubber degrading bacteria culture, PHB-ENR25 blend films showed higher degradation rate than PHB and PHBV, NR and ENR25. This study has successfully established a low-cost process to synthesize biodegradable polymer. However, PHB and PHBV properties are needed to be studied further.

Suggestion for further study

- Bacterial strains SB01 and SB02 have potential to produce high content and high molecular weight PHB by using simple and low-cost carbon sources. However, the pathogenicity of these two strains is needed to be examined before use.
- 2. PHAs extracted by the biological method in this study still contained small amounts of protein, the purity of PHAs should be improved by using other surfactant or heat to remove the protein.
- 3. PHB and ENR25 did not mix homogeneously by blendings. Blending mechanism highly depends on the mechanical properties of two polymers, the elastomeric modifier, the dispersion of the modifier, and the interfacial adhesion among the different phases. Since molecular weight, mechanical properties and polarity of PHB and ENR25 were different, this can be modified by adding a compatibilizer to increase interfacial adhesion of two polymers or modifying the chemical and physical structures of two polymers before blending. The ratio of two polymers might also be altered to determine the suitable mixture.

REFERENCES

- Albert, L. And Drobny, J.G. 2006. Processing of fluoroelastomers, fluoroelastomers Handbook. Elsevier, London, pp. 103-122.
- Alias, Z. and Tan, I.K.P. 2005. Isolation of palm oil-utilising, polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA)-producing bacteria by an enrichment technique. *Bioresource Technology*, 96: 1229–1234.
- Amirul, A.A., Yahya, A.R.M., Sudesh, K., Azizan, M. N. M. and Majid, M. I. A. 2008. Biosynthesis of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-4-hydroxybutyrate) copolymer by *Cupriavidus* sp. USMAA1020 isolated from lake Kulim Malaysia. *Bioresource Technology*, 99: 4903–4909.
- Anderson, A.J. and Dawes, E.A. 1990. Occurrence, metabolism, metabolic role, and industrial uses of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Microbiological Reviews*, 54: 450–472.
- Annuar, M.S.M, Tan, I.K.P and Ramachandran, K.B. 2008. Evaluation of nitrogen sources for growth and production of medium-chain length poly-(3hydroxyalkanoates) from palm kernel oil by *Pseudomonas putida* PGA1. *Asia Pacific Journal Molecular Biology Biotechnology*, 16:11–15.
- Antipov, E.M., Dubinsky, V.A., Rebrov, A.V., Nekrasov, Y.P., Gordeev, S.A. and Ungar, G. 2006. Strain-induced mesophase and hard-elastic behavior of biodegradable polyhydroxyalkanoates fibers. *Polymer*, 47: 5678–5690.
- Aramvash, A., Hajizadeh-Turchi, S., Moazzeni-zavareh, F. and Gholami-Banadkuki F. 2016. Effective enhancement of hydroxyvalerate content of PHBV in *Cupriavidus necator* and its characterization. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 87: 397–404.
- Ashby, R.D., Solaiman, D.K.Y. and Foglia, T.A.U. 2005. Synthesis of shortmediumchain-length poly(hydroxyalkanoate) blends by mixed culture fermentation of glycerol. *Biomacromolecules*, 6: 2106-2112.
- Asrar, J. and Gruys, K.J. 2002. Biodegradable Polymer. Wiley online, USA, pp. 53-90.

- Belal, E.B. 2013. Production of poly-β-hydroxybutyric acid (PHB) by *Rhizobium etli* and *Pseudomonas stutzeri*. *Current Research Journal of Biological Sciences*, 5: 273–284.
- Bendjaouahdou, C. and Bensaad, S. 2013. The effects of organoclay on the morphology and balance properties of an immiscible Polypropylene/Natural rubber blend. *Energy Procedia*. 36: 574 – 590.
- Berezina, N. 2012. Enhancing the 3-hydroxyvalerate component in bioplastic PHBV production by *Cupriavidus necator*. *Biotechnology Journal*, 7: 304–309.
- Bernd, H. and Rehm, A. 2010. Bacterial polymers: biosynthesis, modifications and applications. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*. 8: 578-592.
- Bhatt, R., Shah, D., Patel, K. and Trivedi, U. 2008. PHA–rubber blends: Synthesis, characterization and biodegradation. *Bioresource Technology*, 99: 4615-4620.
- Bluhm, T.L., Hamer, G.K., Marchessault, R.H. and Fyfe, C. 1986. Isodimorphism in bacterial poly(β-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-β-hydroxyvalerate). *Macromolecules*, 19:2871–2876.
- Brandl, H., Gross, R.A., Lenz, R.W. and Fuller, R.C. 1990. Plastics from bacteria and for bacteria: poly(3-hydroxyalkanoates) as natural, biocompatible, and biodegradable polyesters. *Advances in Biochemical Engineering/ Biotechnology*, 41: 77–93.
- Brämer, C.O., Vandamme, P., da Silva, L.F., Gomez, J.G.C. and Steinbüchel, A. 2001. Burkholderia sacchari sp. nov., a polyhydroxyalkanoate-accumulating bacterium isolated from soil of a sugar-cane plantation in Brazil. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 51: 1709–1713.
- Burdon, K.L. 1946. Fatty material in bacteria and fungi revealed by staining dried, fixed slide preparations. *Journal of bacteriology*, 52: 665-678.
- Butt, F.I., Muhammad, N., Hamid, A., Moniruzzaman, M. and Sharif, F. 2018. Recent progress in the utilization of biosynthesized polyhydroxyalkanoates for biomedical applications. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 120: 1294–1305.
- Cavalheiro. J.M.B.T, Almeida, M.C.M.D., Grandfils, C. and Fonseca, M.M.R. 2009. Poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production by *Cupriavidus necator* using waste glycerol. *Process Biochemistry*, 44:509-515.

- Ceccorulli, G., Pizzoli, M. and Scandola, M. 1992. Plasticization of bacterial poly(3hydroxybutyrate). *Macromolecules*, 25(12): 3304–3306.
- Celik, G.Y., Beyatli, Y. and Aslim, B. 2005. Determination of poly-betahydroxybutyrate (PHB) production in sugarbeet molasses by *Pseudomonas cepacia* G13 strain. *Zuckerindustrie*, 130: 201–203.
- Chanasit, W., Sueree, L., Hodgson, B. and Umsakul, K. 2014. The production of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) [P(3HB)] by a newly isolated *Bacillus* sp. ST1C using liquid waste from biodiesel production. *Annals of Microbiology*, 64:1157–1166.
- Chanasit, W., Hodgson, B., Sudesh, K. and Umsakul, K. 2016. Efficient production of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) from *Pseudomonas mendocina* PSU using a biodiesel liquid waste (BLW) as the sole carbon source. *Microbiology Fermentation Technology*, 80:1440–1450.
- Chanprateep, S. 2010. Current trends in biodegradable polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 110:621–632.
- Chee, J.Y., Tan, Y., Samian, M.R. and Sudesh, K. 2010. Isolation and characterization of a *Burkholderia* sp. USM (JCM15050) capable of producing polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) from triglycerides, fatty acids and glycerols. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 18: 584–592.
- Chen, G.Q. 2005. Polyhydroxyalkanoates. Biodegradable polymers for industrial applications. Cambridge, UK, pp. 32-56.
- Chen, G.Q. and Wu Q. 2005A. The application of polyhydroxyalkanoates as tissue engineering materials. *Biomaterials*, 26: 6565–6578.
- Chen, G.Q. and Wu, Q. 2005B. Microbial production and applications of chiral hydroxyalkanoates. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 67: 592–599.
- Choi, J.S. and Park, W.H. 2004. Effect of biodegradable plasticizers on thermal and mechanical properties of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate). *Polymer Testing*, 23: 455– 460.
- Clarinval, A. and Halleux, J. 2005. Classification of biodegradable polymers. In: Smith R (ed). Biodegradable Polymers for Industrial Applications, CRC, Boca Raton, USA, pp. 31-42.

- Cornell, D.D. 2007. Biopolymers in the existing postconsumer plastics recycling stream. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 15: 295-299.
- De Smet,M.J., Eggink, G., Witholt, B., Kingma, J. and Wynberg, H. 1983. Characterization of intracellular inclusions formed by *Pseudomonas oleovorans* during growth on octane. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 154: 870–878.
- Doi Y. 1990. Microbial polyesters, Wiley-VCH, New York, pp. 156-166.
- Doi, Y. and Steinbüchel, A. 2002. Biopolymers, Wiley-VCH, Germany, pp. 129-177.
- Dong, Q., Meng, Z., Ho, C.L., Guo, H., Yang, W., Manners, I., Xu, L. and Wong, W.Y. 2018. A molecular approach to magnetic metallic nanostructures from metallopolymer precursors. *Chemical Society Reviews*, DOI: 10.1039/c7cs00599g
- Drevinek, P., Vosahlikova, S., Dedeckova, K., Cinek, O. and Mahenthiralingam, E. 2010. Direct culture-independent strain typing of *Burkholderia cepacia* complex in sputum samples from patients with cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 48(5): 1888–1891.
- Du, G., Chen, J., Yu, J. and Lun, S. 2001. Continuous production of poly(3hydroxybutyrate) by *Ralstonia eutropha* in a two-stage culture system. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 88: 59–65.
- Fernandez, D., Rodriguez, E., Bassas, M., Vinas, M., Solanas, A.M., Llorens, J. and Marque's, A.M. 2005. Agro-industrial oily wastes as substrates for PHA production by the new strain *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* NCIB 40045: Effect of culture conditions. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 26:159–167.
- Full, T.D., Jung, D.O. and Madigan, M.T. 2006. Production of poly-betahydroxyalkanoates from soy molasses oligosaccharides by new, rapidly growing Bacillus species. *Letter Apply Microbiology*, 43: 377–384.
- Furrer, P., Zinn, M. and Panke, S. 2008. Polyhydroxyalkanoate and its potential for biomedical applications. *Natural-Based Polymers for Biomedical Applications*, 416-445.
- Gelling, I. R. 1991. Epoxidized natural rubber. Natural Rubber Research, 6(3): 184.
- Godbole, S., Gote, S., Latkar, M. and Chakrabarti, T. 2003. Preparation and characterization of biodegradable poly-3-hydroxybutyrate-starch blend films, *Bioresource Technology*, 86: 33–37.

- Gomaa, E.Z. 2014. Production of Polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) By *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli* grown on cane molasses fortified with ethanol. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 57: 145-154.
- Grage, K. 2009.Bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoate granules: biogenesis, structure, and potential use as nano-/micro-beads in biotechnological and biomedical applications. *Biomacromolecules*, 10: 660–669.
- Gronau, G., Krishnaji, S.T., Kinahan, M.T., Giesa, T., Wong, J.Y., Kaplan, D.L. and Buehler, M.J. 2012. A review of combined experimental and computational procedures for assessing biopolymer structure processe property relationships. *Biomaterials*, 33: 8240-8255.
- Gumel, A., Annuar, M. and Chisti, Y. 2013. Recent advances in the production, recovery and applications of polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 21: 580–605.
- Ha, C.S. and Cho, W.J. 2002. Miscibility, properties, and biodegradability of microbial polyester containing blends. *Progress in Polymer Science*,27: 759– 809.
- Hamzah, R., Bakar, M., Khairuddean, M., Mohammed, I. and Adnan, R. 2012. A structural study of epoxidized natural rubber (ENR-50) and its cyclic dithiocarbonate derivative using NMR spectroscopy techniques. *Molecules*, 17: 10974-10993.
- Haywood, G.W., Anderson, A.J. and Dawes, E.A. 1989. A survey of the accumulation of novel polyhydroxyalkanoates by bacteria. *Biotechnolology Letter*, 11: 471–476.
- Haywood, G.W., Anderson, A.J., Ewing, D.F.and Dawes, E.A. 1990. Accumulation of polyhydroxyalkanoate containing primarily 3-hydroxy-decanoate from simple carbohydrate substrate by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain NCIMB 40135. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56, 3354–3359.
- Hazer, B. and Steinbüchel, A. 2007. Increased diversification of polyhydroxyalkanoates by modification reactions for industrial and medical applications. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 74: 1–12.

- Hazer, D.B., Kılıçay, E. and Hazer B. 2012. Poly(3-hydroxyalkanoate): Diversification and biomedical applications A state of the art review. *Materials Science and Engineering*, 32: 637–647.
- Hocking, P.J. and Marchessault, R.H. 1994. In: Griffin GJL, editor. Chemistry and Technology of Biodegradable Polymers. Blackie Academic & Professional. London, UK, pp. 48-96.
- Jau, M.H., Yew, S.P., Toh, P.S.Y., Chong, A.S.C., Chu, W.L., Phang, S.M., Najimudin, N. and Sudesh, K. 2005. Biosynthesis and mobilization of poly(3hydroxybutyrate) P(3HB) by Spirulina platensis. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules, 36: 144–151.
- Jendrossek, D., Tomasi, G. and Kroppenstedt, R.M. 1997. Bacterial degradation of natural rubber: A privilege of actinomycetes. *FEMS Microbiology Letter*, 150(2): 179-188.
- Jendrossek, D. and Handrick, R. 2002. Microbial degradation of polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Annual Review of Microbiology*, 56: 403-432.
- Jendrossek, D. 2009. Polyhydroxyalkanoate granules are complex subcellular organelles (carbonosomes). *Journal of Bacteriology*,191: 3195–3202.
- Johnson, T. and Thomas, S. 2000. Effect of epoxidation on the transport behaviour and mechanical properties of natural rubber. *Polymer*, 41: 7511-7522.
- Jones, A. M., Dodd, M.E., Govan, J.R., Barcus, V., Doherty, C.J., Morris, J. and Webb A.K. 2004. Burkholderia cenocepacia and Burkholderia multivorans: influence on survival in cystic fibrosis. Thorax, 59: 948–951.
- Jost, V., Schwarz, M. and Langowski, H.C. 2017. Investigation of the 3hydroxyvalerate content and degree of crystallinity of P3HB-co-3HV cast films using Raman spectroscopy. *Polymer*, 133: 160–170.
- Jung, J., Heo, A., Park, Y.W. and Kim, Y.J. 2014. Gut microbiota of *Tenebrio molitor* and their response to environmental change. *Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 24:888–897.
- Kang, H.O., Chung, C.W., Kim, H.W., Kim Y.B. and Rhee, Y.H. 2001. Cometabolic biosynthesis of copolyesters consisting of 3-hydroxyvalerate and mediumchain-length 3-hydroxyalkanoates by *Pseudomonas* sp. DSY-82. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, 80: 185–191.

- Kassab, A., Xu, K., Denkbas, E., Dou, Y., Zhao, S. and Piskin, E., 1997. Rifampicin carrying polyhydroxybutyrate microspheres as a potential chemoembolization agent. *Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer*, 8(12): 947–961.
- Kemavongse, K., P. Prasertsan, A. Upaichit, and P. Methacanon. 2008. Poly-bhydroxyalkanoate production by halotolerant *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* U7. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 24: 2073–2085.
- Keshavarz, T. and Roy, I. 2010. Polyhydroxyalkanoates: bioplastics with a green agenda., *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, 13: 321–326.
- Khanna, S. and Srivastava, A.K. 2005. Recent advances in microbial polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Process Biochemistry*, 40: 607–619.
- Khan, I., Mansha, M. and Mazumder, M. 2018. Polymer Blends. Functional Polymers. Polymers and Polymeric Composites: A Reference Series, Springer, Switzerland, pp.1-38.
- Kim, D.Y. and Rhee, Y.H. 2003. Biodergadation of microbial and synthetic polyesters by fungi. *Applied Microbiologyand Biotechnology*, 61: 300-308.
- Kichise, T., Fukui,T., Yoshida, Y. and Doi, Y. 1999. Biosynthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) by recombinant *Ralstonia eutropha* and effects of PHA synthase activity on in vivo PHA biosynthesis. *International Journal* of Biological Macromolecules, 25: 69–77
- Kim, Y.B. and Lenz, R.W. 2001. Polyesters from microorganisms. Advances in Biochemical Engineering / Biotechnology, 71: 51–79.
- Klotz, A.S. 1990. Microbial cell surface hydrophobicity. *American Society for Microbiology Washington DC*, 1: 107-108.
- Knoll, M., Hamm, T., Wagner, H., Martinez, V. and Pleiss, J. 2009. The PHA depolymerase engineering database: A systematic analysis tool for the diverse family of polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) depolymerases. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 10(89): 1-8.
- Koçer, H., Borcakli, M and Demirel, S. 2003. Production of bacterial polyesters from some various new substrates by *Alcaligenes eutrophus* and *Pseudomonas* oleovorans. Turkish Journal of Chemistry, 27: 365-373.

- Kosseva, M.R. and Rusbandi, E. 2018. Trends in the biomanufacture of polyhydroxyalkanoates with focus on downstream processing. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 107: 762–778.
- Kotnis, M.A., O'Brien, G.S. and Willett J. 1995. Processing and mechanical properties of biodegradable poly (hydroxybutyrate-*co*-valerate)-starch compositions. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 3: 97–105.
- Kulpreecha, S., Boonruangthavorn, A., Meksiriporn, B. and Thongchul, N. 2009. Inexpensive fed-batch cultivation for high poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) production by a new isolate of *Bacillus megaterium*. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 107: 240-245.
- Lau, N.S., Tsuge, T. and Sudesh, K. 2011. Formation of new polyhydroxyalkanoate containing 3-hydroxy-4-methylvalerate monomer in *Burkholderia* sp. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 89: 1599–1609.
- Lee, S.Y. 1996. Bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 49: 1–14.
- Lee, H.K., Ismail, J., Kammer H.W. and Bakar, M.A. 2005. Polymer blends made of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3-hydroxyhexanoate) and epoxidized natural rubber: Thermal and mechanical response. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 95(1): 113–129.
- Lee, W.H., Loo, C.Y., Nomura, C.T. and Sudesh, K. 2008. Biosynthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoate copolymers from mixtures of plant oils and 3hydroxyvalerate precursors. *Bioresource Technology*, 99: 6844–6851.
- Liebergesell, M. and Steinbüchel, A. 1992. Cloning and nucleotide sequence of genes relevant for biosynthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoic acid in *Chromatium vinosum* strain D. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 209: 135-150.
- Liebergesell, M., Rahalkar, S. and Steinbüchel, A. 2000. Analysis of the *Thiocapsa pfennigii* polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase: subcloning, molecular characterization and generation of hybrid synthases with the corresponding Chromatium vinosum enzyme. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 54:186–194.

- Madison, L.L. and Huisman, G.W. 1999. Metabolic engineering of poly(3hydroxyalkanoates): from DNA to plastic. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 63: 21–53.
- Martini, F., Perazzo, L. and Vietto, P. 1989. Sheet materials of HB polymers. Patent US4826493.
- Matias, F., Brandt, C.A., da Silva, E.S. and de Andrade Rodrigues, M.F. 2017. Polyhydroxybutyrate and polyhydroxydodecanoate produced by *Burkholderia contaminans* IPT553. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 123: 124-133.
- Matsusaki, H., Manji, S., Taguchi, K., Kato, M., Fukui, T. and Doi, Y. 1998. Cloning and molecular analysis of the poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) and poly (3hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyalkanoate) biosynthesis genes in *Pseudomonas* sp. strain 61-3. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 180(24): 6459–6467.
- McCool, G.J. and Cannon, M.C. 2001. PhaC and PhaR are required for polyhydroxyalkanoic acid synthase activity in *Bacillus megaterium*. Journal of Bacteriology, 183(14): 4235-4243.
- Mercan, N. and Beyatl, Y. 2005. Production of poly-betahydroxybutyrate (PHB) by *Rhizobium meliloti*, *R. viciae* and *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* with different carbon and nitrogen sources, and inexpensive substrates. *Zuckerindustrie*, 130: 410–415.
- Mikova, G. and Chodak, I. 2006. Properties and modification of poly(3hydroxybutanoate). *Chemick Listy*, 100: 1075–1083.
- Miller, C.S., Handley, K.M., Wrighton, K.C., Frischkorn, K.R., Thomas, B.C. and Banfield, J.F. 2013. Short-read assembly of full-length 16S amplicons reveals bacterial diversity in subsurface sediments. *PloS One*, 8(2): 56018.
- Moita, R. and Lemos, P.C. 2011. Biopolymers production from mixed cultures and pyrolysis by products. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 157: 578-583.
- Murugan, P., Han, L., Gan, C.Y. and Maurer, F.H.J. 2016. A new biological recovery approach for PHA using mealworm, *Tenebrio molitor*. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 239: 98–105.
- Murugesan, S. and Iyyaswami, R. 2017. Low frequency sonic waves assisted cloud point extraction of polyhydroxyalkanoate from *Cupriavidus necator*. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 1060: 207–214.

- Nerkar, M., Ramsay, J., Ramsay, B., Vasileiou, A. and Kontopoulou, M. 2015.
 Improvements in the melt and solid-state properties of poly(lactic acid), poly-3-hydroxyoctanoate and their blends through reactive modification. *Polymer*, 64: 51-61.
- Niaounakis M. 2015. Biopolymers: processing and products Elsevier, London, pp.117-185.
- Nunes, D.J., Pawar, S.S., Liden, G. and Grauslund, M.F. 2017. Effect of nitrogen availability on the poly-3-hydroxybutyrate accumulation by engineered *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *AMB Express*, 7: 35.
- Ohura, T., Aoyagi, Y., Takagi, K.I., Yoshida, Y., Kasuya, K.I. and Doi, Y. 1999. Biodegradation of poly (3-hydroxyalkanoic acids) fibers and isolation of poly (3-hydroxybutyric acid)-degrading microorganisms under aquatic environments, *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 63 (1): 23-29.
- Ong, S.Y. and Sudesh, K. 2016. Effects of polyhydroxyalkanoate degradation on soil microbial community. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 131: 9-19.
- Ong, S.Y., Kho, H.P., Riedel, S.L. and Kim, S.W. 2018. An integrative study on biologically recovered polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) and simultaneous assessment of gut microbiome in yellow mealworm. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 265: 31–39.
- Park, S.J., Kim, T.W., Kim, M.K., Lee, S.Y. and Lim, S.C. 2012. Advanced bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoates: towards a versatile and sustainable platform for unnatural tailor-made polyesters. *Biotechnology Advances*, 30:1196–1206.
- Parulekar, Y. and Amar, K. 2006. Biodegradable toughened polymers from renewable resources: blends of polyhydroxybutyrate with epoxidized natural rubber and maleated polybutadiene. *Mohanty Green Chemistry*, 8: 206–213.
- Pire, M., Norvez, S., Lliopoulos, I., Rossignol, B. L. and Leibler, L. 2011. Dicarboxylic acids may compete with standard vulcanisation processes for crosslinking epoxidised natural rubber. *Polymer*, 52: 5243-5249.
- Pivsa-Art, S., Srisawat, N., O-Charoen, N., Pavasupree, S. and Pivsa-Art, W. 2011. Preparation of knitting socks from Poly (lactic acid) and Poly[(*R*)-3-*co*-(*R*)-3hydroxyvalerate] (PHBV) blends for textile industrials. *Energy Procedia*, 9: 589 – 597.

- Prieto, A., Escapa, I.F., Martínez, V., Dinjaski, N. Herencias, C., Peña, F., Tarazona, N. and Revelles, O. 2015. A holistic view of polyhydroxyalkanoate metabolism in *Pseudomonas putida*. *Environmental Microbiology*, 18(2): 341-357.
- Pohlmann, A., Fricke, W.F., Reinecke, F., Kusian, B., Liesegang, H., Cramm, R., Eitinger, T. and Ewering, C. 2006. Genome sequence of the bioplasticproducing "Knallgas" bacterium *Ralstonia eutropha* H16. *Nature Biotechnology*, 24: 1257–1262.
- Preusting, H., Hazenberg, W. and Witholt, B. 1993. Continuous production of poly(3hydroxyalkanoates) by *Pseudomonas oleovorans* in a high cell density twoliquid phase chemostat. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 15: 311–316.
- Puskas, J.E., Gautriaud, E., Deffieux, A. and Kennedy, J.P. 2006. Natural rubber biosynthesis—A living carbocationic polymerization. *Progress in Polymer Science*,31: 533–548.
- Qiu, H, Hu, C., Yoon, S., Natarajan, K., Swanson, M.J. and Hinnebusch, A.G. 2004. An array of coactivators is required for optimal recruitment of TATA binding protein and RNA polymerase II by promoter-bound Gcn4p. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 24(10):4104-4117.
- Raghunatha, K., Sato, H. and Takahashi, I. 2015. Intermolecular hydrogen bondings in the poly (3-hydroxybutyrate) and chitin blends: their effects on the crystallization behavior and crystal structure of poly (3-hydroxybutyrate), *Polymer*, 75: 141–150.
- Reddy, C.K.S., Ghai, R. and Kalia, V. 2003. Polyhydroxyalkanoates: an overview. *Bioresource Technology*, 87(2): 137-146.
- Reddy, M., Vivekanandhan, S., Misra, M., Bhatia, S.K. and Mohanty, A.K. 2013.
 Biobased plastics and bionanocomposites: Current status and future opportunities Murali. *Progress in Polymer Science*, 38: 1653-1689.
- Rehm, B.H. 2010. Bacterial polymers: biosynthesis, modifications and applications. *Nature ReviewsMicrobiology*, 8: 578–592.
- Rehm, B.H.A and Steinbüchel, A. 2005. Polyhydroxyalkanoate (PHA) Synthases: The Key Enzymes of PHA Synthesis. Biopolymer. Wiley online, USA, pp. 174-209.

- Rose, K. and Steinbüchel, A. 2005. Biodegradation of natural rubber and related compounds: recent insights into a hardly understood catabolic capability of microorganisms. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71: 2803–2812.
- Saito, T., Klinklai, W. and Kawahara, S. 2007. Characterization of epoxidized natural rubber by 2D NMR spectroscopy. *Polymer*, 48: 750-757.
- Sathiyanarayanan, G. Saibaba, G., Kiran, G.S., Yang,Y.H. and Selvin, J. 2017. Marine spongeassociated bacteria as a potential source for polyhydroxyalkanoates, *Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, 43: 294–312.
- Sato, M., Maeba, H., Watari, J. and Takashio, M.2002. Analysis of an inactivated Lg-FLO1 gene present in bottom-fermenting yeast. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 93(4): 395-398.
- Schubert, P., Steinbüchel, A. and Schlegel, H.G. 1988. Cloning of the *Alcaligenes eutrophus* genes for synthesis of poly-β-hydroxybutyric acid (PHB) and synthesis of PHB in *Escherichia coli*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 170: 5837– 5847.
- Seoane, I.T., Fortunati, E., Puglia, E., Cyras, V.P., and Manfredi, L.B. 2016. Development and characterization of bionanocomposites based on poly (3hydroxybutyrate) and cellulose nanocrystals for packaging applications. *Polymer International*, 65: 1046–1053.
- Shrivastava, A., Mishraa, S.K., Shethia, B. and Pancha, I. 2010. Isolation of promising bacterial strains from soil and marine environment for polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) production utilizing Jatropha biodiesel byproduct. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 47: 283–287.
- Shrivastav, A., Kim, H.Y. and Kim, Y.R. 2013. Advances in the applications of polyhydroxyalkanoate nanoparticles for novel drug delivery system. *BioMed Research International*. 581-684
- Silva-Queiroz, S.R., Silva, L.F., Pradella, J.G.C., Pereira, E.M and Gomez, J.G. C. 2009. PHA_{MCL} biosynthesis systems in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Pseudomonas putida* strains show differences on monomer specificities. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 143: 111–118.

- Sodian, R., Sperling, J., Martin, D., Egozy, A., Stock, U., Mayer, J. and Vacanti, J. 2000. Fabrication of a trileaflet heart valve scaffold from a polyhydroxyalkanoate biopolyester for use in tissue engineering. *Tissue Engineering*, 6: 183–188.
- Solaiman, D.K.Y, Ashby, R.D. and Foglia, T.A.U. 2000. Rapid and specific identification of medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoate synthase gene by polymerase chain reaction. *Apply Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 53: 690– 694.
- Sridewi, N., Bhubalan, K. and Sudesh, K. 2006. Degradation of commercially important polyhydroxyalkanoates in tropical mangrove ecosystem. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 91: 2931-2940.
- Sousa, S.A., Ramos, C.G. and Leit^ao, J.H. 2011. *Burkholderia cepacia* complex: emerging multihost pathogens equipped with a wide range of virulence factors and determinants. *International Journal of Microbiology*, 2011: 607575.
- Steinbüchel, A. and Schlegel, H.G. 1991. Physiology and molecular genetics of poly(β-hydroxyalkanoic acid) synthesis in Alcaligenes eutrophus. Molecular Microbiology, 5: 535–542.
- Steinbüchel, A. and Füchtenbusch, B. 1998. Bacterial and other biological systems for polyester production. *Trends in Biotechnology*,16: 419–427.
- Steinbüchel, A. 2001. Perspectives for biotechnological production and utilization of biopolymers: metabolic engineering of polyhydroxyalkanoate biosynthesis pathways as a successful example. *Macromolecular Bioscience*, 1: 1–24.
- Steinbüchel, A. and Lutke-Eversloh, T. 2003. Metabolic engineering and pathway construction for biotechnological production of relevant polyhydroxyalkanoates in microorganisms. *Biochemical Engineering*, 16: 81–96.
- Steinbüchel, A. 2010. Plastics from Bacteria: Natural functions and applications. Microbiology Monographs. Germany, pp. 17-37.
- Sudesh, K. 2004. Microbial polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs): an emerging biomaterial for tissue engineering and therapeutic applications. *Medical Journal of Malaysia*,59: 55–56.

- Sudesh, K. and Doi, Y. 2005. Polyhydroxyalkanoates. Handbook of Biodegradable Polymers. Rapra Technologies Ltd. England. pp.219-256.
- Sun, Z., Ramsay, J.A., Guay, M. and Ramsay, B.A. 2007. Carbon-limited fed-batch production of medium-chain-length polyhydroxyalkanoates from nonanoic acid by *Pseudomonas putida* KT2440. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 74: 69–77.
- Suriyamongkol, P., Weselake, R., Narine, S., Moloney, M. and Shah, S. 2007. Biotechnological approaches for the production of polyhydroxyalkanoates in microorganisms and plants. *Biotechnology Advances*, 25: 148–175.
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Peterson, D., Filipski, A. and Kumar, S. 2013. MEGA 6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(12): 2725-2729.
- Tanjung, F.A., Hassan, A. and Hasan, M. 2015. Use of epoxidized natural rubber as a toughening agent in plastics. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 132(29): 42270.
- Tezcaner, A., Bugra, K. and Hasirci, V. 2003. Retinal pigment epithelium cell culture on surface modified poly(hydroxybutyrate-*co*-hydroxyvalerate) thin films. *Biomaterials*, 24: 4573–4583.
- Thakor, N., Trivedi, U. and Patel, K.C. 2006. Microbiological and biotechnological aspects of biodegradable plastics: poly (hydroxyalkanoates). *Indian Journal of Biotechnology*, 5: 137–147.
- Thompson, R.B. and Matsen, M.W. 2000. Effective interaction between monolayers of block copolymer compatibilizer in a polymer blend. *The Journal of Chemical Physics*, 112 (15): 6863–6872.
- Tian, W., Hong, K. and Chen, G.Q. 2000. Production of polyesters consisting of medium chain length 3-hydroxyalkanoic acids by *Pseudomonas mendocina* 0806 from various carbon sources. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 77: 31–36.
- Tsuge, T. 2002. Metabolic improvements and use of inexpensive carbon sources in microbial production of polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering*, 94: 579–584.

- Urtuvia, V. Villegas, P., González, M. and Seeger, M. 2014. Bacterial production of the biodegradable plastics polyhydroxyalkanoates. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*. 70: 208–213.
- Vanlaere, E., LiPuma, J.J. and Baldwin A. 2008. "Burkholderia lateens sp. nov., Burkholderia diffusa sp. nov., Burkholderia arboris sp. nov., Burkholderia seminalis sp. nov., and Burkholderia metallica sp. nov., novel species within the Burkholderia cepacia complex," International Journal of Systematic and EvolutionaryMicrobiology, 58(7): 1580–1590.
- Vanlaere, E., Baldwin, A. and Gevers, D. 2009. "Taxon K, a complex within the Burkholderia cepacia complex, comprises at least two novel species, Burkholderia contaminans sp. nov. and Burkholderia lata sp. nov," International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 59(1): 102–111.
- Varsha Y. and Savitha, R. 2011. Overview on polyhydroxyalkanoates: a promising biopol. *Journal of Microbial and Biochemical Technology*, 3: 99–105.
- Veleirinho, B., Ribeiro-do-Valle, R.M. and Lopes-da-Silva, J.A. 2011. Processing conditions and characterization of novel electrospun poly(3-hydroxybutyrateco-hydroxyvalerate)/chitosan blend fibers. *Materials Letters*, 65: 2216–2219
- Verlinden, R.A.J., Hill, D.J., Kenward, M.A., Williams, C.D. and Radecka, I. 2007. Bacterial synthesis of biodegradable polyhydroxyalkanoates. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 102(6):1437-1449.
- Vieira, M., Silva, M., Santos, L. and Beppu, M. 2011. Natural-based plasticizers and biopolymer films. *European Polymer Journal*, 47: 254–263.
- Volova, T.G., Boyandin, A.N., Vasiliev, A.D., Karpov, V.A., Prudnikova, S.V., Mishukova, O.V., Boyarskikh, U.A., Filipenko, M.L., Rudnev, V.P. and Gitelson, I.I. 2010. Biodegradation of polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHAs) in tropical coastal waters and identification of PHA-degrading bacteria. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 95: 2350-2359.
- Wang, Y., Wu, Q. and Chen, G. 2004. Attachment, proliferation and differentiation of osteoblasts on random biopolyester poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-*co*-3hydroxyhexanoate) scaffolds. *Biomaterials*, 25(4): 669–675.

- Watcharakul, S., Röther, W., Birke, J., Umsakul, K., Hodgson, B. and Jendrossek, D.
 2016. Biochemical and spectroscopic characterization of purified Latex
 Clearing Protein (Lcp) from newly isolated rubber degrading *Rhodococcus rhodochrous* strain RPK1 reveals novel properties of Lcp. *BMC Microbiology*, DOI: 10.1186/s12866-016-0703-x.
- White, J.L. 1991. Twin Screw Extrusion: Technology and Principles, Hanser Publishers, New York, pp. 171-181.
- Whitehouse, R.S. and Lexington, M. 2016. Toughened Polyhydroxyalkanoate Compositions. Patent US9346948
- Wong, P.A.L., Cheung, M.K., Lo, W.H., Chua, H. and Yu, P.H.F. 2004. Investigation of the effects of the types of food waste utilized as carbon source on the molecular weight distributions and thermal properties of polyhydroxybutyrate produced by two strains of microorganisms. *e-Polymers*, 031: 1–11.
- Wong, P.A.L., Cheung, M.K., Lo, W.L., Chua, H. and Yu, P.H.F. 2005. Effects of types of food waste as carbon source on the molecular weight distributions and thermal properties of the biopolymer (polyhydroxybutyrate) produced by two strains of microorganisms. *Materials Research Innovations*,9: 4–5.
- Wong, Y.M., Brigham, C.J., Rha, C., Sinskey, A.J.and Sudesh, K., 2012. Biosynthesis and characterization of polyhydroxyalkanoate containing high3hydroxyhexanoate monomer fraction from crude palm kernel oil byrecombinant *Cupriavidus necator*. *Bioresource Technology*, 121: 320–327.
- Yabueng, N. and Napathorn, S. 2018. Toward non-toxic and simple recovery process of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate) using the green solvent 1,3-dioxolane. *Process Biochemistry*, 69: 197–207.
- Yagmurlu, M., Korkusuz, F., Gursel, I., Korkusuz, P., Ors, U. and Hasirci, V. 1999.
 Sulbactamcefoperazone polyhydroxybutyrate-*co*-hydroxyvalerate (PHBV)
 local antibiotic delivery system: *In vivo* effectiveness and biocompatibility in
 the treatment of implant-related experimental osteomyelitis. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research*, 46(4):494–503.
- Yang, F., Hanna, M.A. and Sun, R. 2012. Value-added uses for crude glycerol a byproduct of biodiesel production. *Biotechnology for Biofuels*, 5:13–23.

- Yazdi, M. K., Khan, Y., Madani, M., Askari, H., Saadatnia, Z. and Yildirim, A. 2010. Analytical solutions for autonomous conservative nonlinear oscillator. *Journal International Journal of Nonlinear Sciences and Numerical Simulation*, 11(11): 979-984.
- Yeo, J.C.C., Muiruria, bJ.K., Thitsartarnb, W., Lib, Z. and He, C. 2018. Recent advances in the development of biodegradable PHB-based toughening materials: approaches, advantages and applications. *Materials Science & Engineering*, 92: 1092–1116.
- Yilmaz, M. and Beyatli, Y. 2005. Poly-beta-hydroxybutyrate (PHB) production by a Bacillus cereus M5 strain in sugarbeet molasses. Zuckerindustrie, 130: 109-112.
- Yoshie, N., Nakasato, K., Fujiwara, M., Kasuya, K., Abe, H. and Doi, Y. 2000. Effect of low molecular weight additives on enzymatic degradation of poly(3hydroxybutyrate). *Polymer*, 41: 3227–3234.
- Yu, J., Si, Y.T. and Wong, W.K.R. 2002. Kinetics modeling of inhibition and utilization of mixed volatile fatty acids in the formation of polyhydroxyalkanoates by *Ralstonia eutropha*. *Process Biochemistry*, 37:731– 738.
- Zhang, M., and Thomas, N.L. 2010. Preparation and properties of polyhydroxybutyrate blended with different types of starch. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 116: 688–694.
- Zhu, C., Nomura, C.T., Perrotta, J.A., Stipanovic, A.J. and Nakas, J.P. 2010. Production and characterization of poly-3-hydroxybutyrate from biodieselglycerol by *Burkholderia cepacia* ATCC 17759. *Biotechnology Progress*, 26: 424–430.
- Zhu, C., Chiu, S., Nakas, J.P. and Nomura, C.T. 2013. Bioplastics from waste glycerol derived from biodiesel industry. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science*, 130: 1-13.
- Zinn, M., Witholt, B. and Egli, T. 2001. Occurrence, synthesis and medical applications of bacterial polyhydroxyalkanoate. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 53: 5–21.

APPENDIX

A. Media and Reagents

Media

1. Nutrient rich medium (NR) (Chee et al., 2010b)

NR consisted of 10 g/L peptone, 10 g/L meat extract and 2.0 g/L yeast extract.

2. Mineral Salt Medium (MSM) for PHA production (Kulpreecha et al., 2009)

MSM consisted of the following components in g/L: $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ 1.0, KH_2PO_4 2.0, Na_2HPO_4 0.6, $MgSO_4 \cdot 7H_2O$ 1.0, citric acid 0.75, 20 mL BLW, and trace element solution 1 mL (in g/L 20 CaCl₂·2H₂O, 1.3 ZnSO₄·7H₂O, 0.2 FeSO₄·7H₂O, 0.6 (NH₄)₂MoO₄, and 0.6 boric acid. Media are sterilized in an autoclave at 121°C, 15 psi for 20 min.

3. Mineral Salt Medium (MSM) used in the biodegradation analysis by the rubber degrading bacteria (Jendrossek *et al.*, 1997)

MSM consists of the following components in g/L: MSM, 9 g/l Na₂HPO₄.12 H_2O , 1.5 g/L KH₂PO₄, 1 g/L NH₄NO₃, 0.2 g/L MgSO₄.7 H_2O , 0.02 g/L CaCl₂.2 H_2O , 1.2 mg/L Fe(III) ammonium citrate. Carbon source e.g. rubber gloves piece (1x1 cm) PHB (1x1 cm), PHBV (1x1 cm), NR (1x1 cm), ENR25 (1x1 cm) or PHA-ENR25 blend (1x1 cm) is sterilized together with medium in an autoclave at 121°C, 15 psi for 20 min.

Reagent

1. Sudan black B

3% sudan black B was dissolve in ethanol and filter with filter paper.

2. Methanolysis solution containing benzoic acid as an internal standard

The methanolysis solution is prepared by adding 15 mL of concentrated sulphuric acid into 85 mL chilled methanol. The solution has to be chilled as the mixing is exothermic. The addition of sulphuric acid is done drop-wise slowly in a fume hood while the chilled methanol is continuously stirred gently using a magnetic stirrer. The solution is then kept in the chiller at 4°C until used. The internal standard benzoic acid is prepared by dissolving 1 g of benzoic acid into 500 mL of the methanolysis solution in a volumetric flask (Sun *et al.*,2007).

B. Report of microbial identification by 16s rRNA sequence analysis

LOCUS	NR_104978	1485 bprRNA	linear	BCT 12-MAR-2	019
DEFINITION	Burkholderia contan	ninans strain J29	56 16S i	ribosomal RNA, p	oartial

sequence.

- ACCESSION NR_104978
- VERSION NR_104978.1
- DBLINK Project: <u>33175</u>
- BioProject: PRJNA33175
- KEYWORDS Ref Seq.
- SOURCE Burkholderia contaminans

ORGANISM <u>Burkholderia contaminans</u>

Bacteria; Proteobacteria; Betaproteobacteria; Burkholderiales; Burkholderiaceae; Burkholderia; Burkholderiacepacia complex.

- REFERENCE 1 (bases 1 to 1485)
- AUTHORS Yarza, P., Sproer, C., Swiderski, J., Mrotzek, N., Spring, S., Tindall, B.J., Gronow, S., Pukall, R., Klenk, H.P., Lang, E.,

Verbarg, S., Crouch, A., Lilburn, T., Beck, B., Unosson, C.,

Cardew, S., Moore, E.R., Gomila, M., Nakagawa, Y., Janssens, D.,

De Vos, P., Peiren, J., Suttels, T., Clermont, D., Bizet, C., Sakamoto,

M., Iida, T., Kudo, T., Kosako, Y., Oshida, Y., Ohkuma, M., Arahal,

D., Spieck, E., Roeser, A., Figge, M., Park, D., Buchanan, P.,

Cifuentes, A., Munoz, R., Euzeby, J.P., Schleifer, K.H., Ludwig, W.,

Amann, R., Glockner, F.O. and Rossello-Mora, R.

- TITLE Sequencing orphan species initiative (SOS): Filling the gaps in the 16S rRNA gene sequence database for all species with validly published names
 - JOURNAL Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 36 (1), 69-73 (2013)
- PUBMED <u>23410935</u>
- REFERENCE 2 (bases 1 to 1485)
- CONSRTM NCBI RefSeq Targeted Loci Project
- TITLE Direct Submission
- JOURNAL Submitted (25-NOV-2013) National Center for Biotechnology Information, NIH, Bethesda, MD 20894, USA
- REFERENCE 3 (bases 1 to 1485)
 - AUTHORS Peiren, J. and Suttels, T.
- TITLE Direct Submission
- JOURNAL Submitted (19-OCT-2012) Microbiology and Biochemistry, BCCM/LMG

Bacteria Collection, K.L. Ledeganckstraat 35, Ghent, East-Flanders 9000, Belgium

COMMENT REVIEWED <u>REFSEQ</u>: This record has been curated by NCBI staff. The reference sequence is identical to JX986975:1-1485.

FEATURES Location/Qualifiers

source 1..1485

/organism="Burkholderiacontaminans"

/mol_type="rRNA"

/strain="J2956"

/culture_collection="LMG:23361"

/type_material="type strain of Burkholderiacontaminans"

/db_xref="taxon:<u>488447</u>"

rRNA<1..>1485

/product="16S ribosomal RNA"

ORIGIN

LOCUSNR_0426351498 bprRNAlinearBCT 12-MAR-2019DEFINITIONBurkholderia seminalisstrain R-241916S ribosomal RNA, partial
sequence.

- ACCESSION NR_042635
- VERSION NR_042635.1
- DBLINK Project: <u>33175</u>
- BioProject: PRJNA33175
- KEYWORDS Ref Seq.
- SOURCE Burkholderia seminalis
- ORGANISM Burkholderia seminalis

Bacteria; Proteobacteria; Betaproteobacteria; Burkholderiales; Burkholderiaceae; Burkholderia; Burkholderiacepacia complex.

- REFERENCE 1
 - AUTHORS Vanlaere, E., Lipuma, J.J., Baldwin, A., Henry, D., De Brandt, E., Mahenthiralingam, E., Speert, D., Dowson, C. and Vandamme, P.
- TITLE Burkholderia latens sp. nov., Burkholderia diffusa sp. nov.,

Burkholderia arboris sp. nov., Burkholderia seminalis sp. nov. and

Burkholderia metallica sp. nov., novel species within the

Burkholderia cepacia complex

JOURNAL Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 58 (PT 7), 1580-1590 (2008)

PUBMED <u>18599699</u>

- REFERENCE 2 (bases 1 to 1498)
 - CONSRTM NCBI Ref Seq Targeted Loci Project
 - TITLE Direct Submission

- JOURNAL Submitted (08-AUG-2011) National Center for Biotechnology Information, NIH, Bethesda, MD 20894, USA
- REFERENCE 3 (bases 1 to 1498)
- AUTHORS Vanlaere, E.
- TITLE Direct Submission
- JOURNAL Submitted (08-JUN-2007) Vanlaere E., Laboratory of Microbiology, Ghent University, K.L. Ledeganckstraat 35, Gent 9000, Belgium
- COMMENT REVIEWED <u>REFSEQ</u>: This record has been curated by NCBI staff. The reference sequence is identical to <u>AM747631</u>.
- FEATURES Location/Qualifiers
- source 1..1498

/organism="Burkholderiaseminalis"

/mol_type="rRNA"

/strain="R-2419; DSM 23518"

/isolation_source="cystic fibrosis patient"

/culture_collection="DSM:23518"

/type_material="type strain of Burkholderiaseminalis"

/db_xref="taxon:<u>488731</u>"

/country="USA"

rRNA<1..>1498

/product="16S ribosomal RNA"

ORIGIN

 $1\ ggctcagattgaacgctggcggcatgccttacacatgcaagtcgaacggcagcacggtg$

 $61\ cttgcacctggtggcgagtggcgaacgggtgagtaatacatcggaacatgtcctgtagtg$

121 ggggatagcccggcgaaagccggattaataccgcatacgatcywtggatgaaagcggggg 181 accttcgggcctcgcgctatagggttggccgatggctgattagctagttggtgggtaaa 241 ggcctaccaaggcgacgatcagtagctggtctgagaggacgaccagccacactgggactg 301 agacacggcccagactcctacgggaggcagcagtggggaattttggacaatgggcgaaag 361 cctgatccagcaatgccgcgtgtgtgaagaaggccttcgggttgtaaagcacttttgtcc 421 ggaaagaaatccctggctctaatacagtcgggggatgacggtaccggaagaataagcacc 481 ggctaactacgtgccagcagccgcggtaatacgtagggtgcaagcgttaatcggaattac 541 tgggcgtaaagcgtgcgcaggcggtttgctaagaccgatgtgaaatccccgggctcaacc 661 gtagcagtgaaatgcgtagagatgtggaggaataccgatggcgaaggcagccccctgggc 721 caatactgacgctcatgcacgaaagcgtggggggggagcaaacaggattagataccctggtagt 781 ccacgccctaaacgatgtcaactagttgttggggattcatttccttagtaacgtagctaa 841 cgcgtgaagttgaccgcctggggagtacggtcgcaagattaaaactcaaaggaattgacg 901 gggacccgcacaagcggtggatgatgtggattaattcgatgcaacgcgaaaaaccttacc 961 taccettgacatggtcggaatcetgetgagaggygggagtgetcgaaagagaaceggege 1021 acaggtgctgcatggctgtcgtcgtcgtcgtgggtgggttaagtcccgcaac 1081 gagcgcaacccttgtccttagttgctacgcaagagcactctaaggagactgccggtgaca 1141 aaccggaggaaggtggggatgacgtcaagtcctcatggcccttatgggtagggcttcaca 1261 accgatcgtagtccggattgcactctgcaactcgagtgcatgaagctggaatcgctagta 1321 atcgcggatcagcatgccgcggtgaatacgttcccgggtcttgtacacaccgcccgtcac 1381 accatgggagtgggttttaccagaagtggctagtctaaccgcaaggaggacggtcaccac 1441 ggtaggattcatgactggggtgaagtcgtaacaaggtagccgtatcggaaggtgcggc//

C1. Formula for PHA production

PHA concentration:

PHA concentration in reaction tube x total volume of chloroform x DCW

Total cell in reaction tube

% wt PHA = $\underline{PHA \text{ concentration x 100}}$ DCW

C2. Formula for Biodegradation

% Weight loss = <u>(Weight of initial film - Weight of film after degradation)</u> x 100 Weight of initial film

VITAE

Name Miss Mananya Martla

Student ID 5610230013

Educationnal Attainment

Degree	Name of instution	Years of graduation
Bachelor of Science	Mahidol University	2008
(Chemistry)		
Master of Science	Chulalongkorn University	2011
(Biochemistry)		

Scholarship Awards during Enrolment

- PSU-Ph.D. Scholarship, Grant number: PSU2556-021
- Research Grant for Thesis

List of Publication and Proceeding

- Martla, M., Sudesh, K. and Umsakul, K. 2018. Production and recovery of poly(3-hydroxybutyrate-co-3-hydroxyvalerate) from biodiesel liquid waste (BLW). Journal of Basic Microbiology. 58: 977-986.
- Martla, M. and Umsakul, K. 2018. Isolation and characterization of a polyhydroxyalkanoates producing bacterium using biodiesel liquid waste as a carbon source. In: The 2nd International Conference on Environment, Livelihood, and Services; ICELS 2018 (19th – 22th November 2018, C asean 10 floor, CW Tower Bangkok, Thailand) (Proceeding)